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BasWare in Brief

BasWare in 2004

Net sales of BasWare Group grew 27.5 percent 
during the year and totaled EUR 32,640 thou-
sand. Consulting revenue rose considerably, 
resulting in a growth of 38.7 percent. Interna-
tional operations grew 31.4 percent, reaching 
over EUR 14,125 thousand.

Operating profi t grew 311.4 percent to EUR 
4,663 thousand. Operating profi t represented 
14.3 percent of net sales.

Compared with the previous year, the number 
of personnel grew signifi cantly. At year-end, the 
total number of employees was 302, of which 
31.5 percent worked outside of Finland.

The Company’s earnings per share were 
EUR 0.33. BasWare’s Board of Directors pro-
poses to the Annual General Meeting that, 
from the fi nancial year 2004, a dividend 
of EUR 0.12 per share be paid.

An international 20 year-old 
software company

BasWare Corporation is a profi tably growing in-
ternational software company whose leading-
edge software enables companies to automate 
and streamline their fi nancial processes.

BasWare’s headquarters are located in Finland 
and the Company has fi ve subsidiaries in 
Europe and one in the United States. The 
Company was founded in 1985.

BasWare in Brief

BasWare’s shares have been quoted on the 
Helsinki Stock Exchange since 2000. BasWare 
transferred from the NM List to the Main List 
on October 19, 2004. The company has approxi-
mately 24,000 shareholders.

Software for Electronic Business and 
Financial Management

BasWare operates in a business-to-business 
market and its target groups include large and 
medium-sized enterprises. The company devel-
ops products for two key fi nancial processes. 
Electronic Business products focus on the 
procure-to-pay process including automatic 
processing of purchase invoices; Financial 
Management products provide solutions for 
planning and reporting.

The Electronic Business products provide sup-
port to the user’s entire fi nancial value chain 
from purchase requisition through to invoice 
approval and payment. These business opera-
tions are provided by all of BasWare’s subsidiar-
ies. In Finland, an integral part of the electronic 
business solution offering is the electronic in-
voicing service which is currently being extend-
ed into other Nordic countries.

The Financial Management products enable 
customers to manage their organizations’ 
budgeting and fi nancial reporting at the group 
and business unit levels. Financial Management 
products have been sold in Finland for almost 
15 years and the preparations for the interna-
tionalization of the operations were initiated in 
2004.
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BasWare in Brief

BasWare products have over 250,000 users in 
about a thousand organizations in both the pri-
vate and public sector. Software installations 
have been carried out in over 20 countries on 
three continents. In addition to software, 
BasWare offers installation, implementation 
and upgrade services as well as training, main-
tenance and support services.

Highlights of 2004

• The full roll-out of the “From Need to 
Payment” product concept for purchase 
to pay process was completed in all market 
areas

• BasWare’s invoice automation solution taken 
into use by large corporations, such as 
Metso, the S Group, Stora Enso and Elisa

• The demand for BasWare Purchase Manage-
ment grew and new clients include Panasonic, 
SITA and If P&C Insurance Company

• The United States market was opened with 
American Eagle Outfi tters and Synopsys as 
the fi rst large local customers

• BasWare’s strategy was updated in the sum-
mer: investments in the strategic markets 
were increased

• The internationalization of Financial Manage-
ment and Business Transactions was com-
menced 

• BasWare’s share was moved to the Main List 
of the Helsinki Stock Exchange in October 
2004

• The CEO and the Chairman of the Board 
switched their positions on January 1, 2005

Financial Objectives and 
Key Figures in 2004

BasWare’s fi nancial objectives are defi ned in 
the Company’s strategy. The objectives to be 
reached by 2007 are:
• annual growth of net sales 40%
• operating profi t margin of 15%

In 2004, the Group key fi gures were:

EUR thousand 2004  2003
Net sales 32,640 25,597
Growth of net sales 27.5% 26.3%
Operating profi t 4,663 1,133
% of net sales 14.3% 4.4%
Profi t before extraordinary items, 
reserves and taxes 4,526 1,031
Profi t for the period 2,801 564
Return on equity, % 25.2% 5.6%
Return on investment, % 36.3% 10.2%
Securities, cash and 
bank balances 5,789 3,633
Gearing, % -34.0% -15.4%
Equity ratio, %  58.6% 63.0%
Research and 
development costs 4,604 4,113
% of net sales 14.1% 16.1%
Personnel in the end of period 302 254
Earnings per share, EUR 0.33 0.07
Equity per share, EUR 1.41 1.18

Personnel, year end
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BasWare was a Finnish company with merely 
50 employees when I began my term as CEO in 
the fall of 1999. This was when the cornerstones 
of the company’s strategy were laid – corner-
stones according to which we have been steer-
ing our operations for the past fi ve years. Our 
vision was an ambitious one: to turn the small 
Finnish company into a rapidly growing, profi t-
able, international software company.

IPO promises: growth, 
internationalization and profi tability

In order to realize the strategy, additional capi-
tal was needed, so BasWare was listed on the 
Helsinki Stock Exchange in February 2000. 
During the listing process, three key words were 
brought forward to capsulate the strategy of 
the Company: growth, internationalization and 
profi tability. 

Now, fi ve years later, I can say that we have 
kept the promises then made to shareholders. 
The share of international operations has 
grown from zero to about 43 percent of net 
sales – over 14 million EUR. As were our inten-
tions, we broke into new markets and now have 
over 250,000 users in over 20 countries. The 
success in internationalizing our Company was 
formally recognized in March 2004 when we 
were awarded the Internationalization Award 
of the President of the Republic of Finland, of 
which we are particularly proud. 

The compound annual growth rate of net sales 
after the IPO clearly exceeds the 40 percent 
objective. In 2004, we also reached our strate-
gic objective regarding operating profi t: a near 
EUR 4.7 million was the largest operating profi t 
in the history of BasWare.

Success factors: customer-oriented 
products and the strive forward

There are many reasons behind the successful 
implementation of BasWare’s long-term strat-
egy. I would particularly like to address two of 
these factors.

Firstly, the attractiveness and competitiveness 
of our products have a key role in our success. 
Our product development is very customer 
driven; instead of laboratory work, the custom-
ers’ practical needs in streamlining fi nancial 
processes guide the whole development. 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank 
all of our customers for their trust in us and 
for their courage to act as forerunners of elect-
ronic solutions. 

Secondly, it may appear that BasWare is not the 
same company today as it was fi ve years ago, 
but our company culture has remained the 
same. Orderliness and realism, combined with 
an insistence to always strive ahead, have con-
tinued to be the benchmarks of our activities. 
Without team oriented personnel and a strong 
company culture, our company’s success would 
not have been possible. I am extremely grateful 
to have had the opportunity to work together 
with great BasWareans, and together, create 
the growth story of the company. Thank you for 
a job well done in 2004 as well as during the 
previous years.

Hannu Vaajoensuu
CEO 1999–2004
Chairman of the Board from January 1, 2005

CEO’s Review

Dear Shareholder,
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Full Speed Ahead with 
Internationalization

The second phase of BasWare’s internationali-
zation is about to begin. The foundations are 
set: BasWare is already an international player 
that has satisfi ed customers all over the world. 

The personnel are well motivated and, accord-
ing to our value, aiming for achievements.

Objective: 40 percent annual growth 
of net sales

When renewing our strategy in 2004, we kept 
the objective of annual net sales growth to 
40 percent although the past few years’ growth 
had been less than 30 percent. Although the 
objective is a tough one, I fi rmly believe it is at-
tainable in the coming years: the largest inter-
national markets in the United States and West-
ern Europe are just beginning to open. The re-
search company META Group believes that the 
market for the fi nancial value chain software 
that BasWare develops is expected to grow over 
30 percent, annually, until 2008.

Focus areas: strategic markets, indirect 
sales and product development

What is the keyword with which we guarantee 
an even stronger growth of net sales in the 
coming years? During the strategy process in 
2004, product sales became the clear answer 
to this question. We will focus even more on se-
curing the growth of product sales particularly 
in our strategic markets in the United States, 
the United Kingdom and Germany. 

We have increased the number of our own sales 
personnel in these areas. In addition to direct 
sales, we will reinforce indirect sales by, for ex-
ample, acquiring more strong partners that 

know our target group in all important market 
areas. We will continue expansion in France and, 
a little later, in Italy and Spain. Strong product 
sales also guarantee the growth of mainte-
nance and support services. 

However, investing in product sales does not 
mean cutting down on product development 
costs. Strong products are the base of rapidly 
growing product sales and distribution volumes 
and, therefore, investments in research and de-
velopment will remain signifi cant also in the fu-
ture. At the beginning of 2005, a new Software 
Production function was founded that includes 
both the Research and Development and the 
Products and Technology units. The latter unit 
ensures the high quality of our products and 
the correspondence with the expectations of 
both our current customers and channel part-
ners. We want to continue to be known as a 
high-quality software company.

With these tools, I am confi dent that we can 
reach the challenging growth objective in the 
next couple of years. However, strong invest-
ments mean that achieving the long-term oper-
ating profi t objective may not necessarily be 
reached in 2005. When the sales growth objec-
tive is accomplished, at the latest, the operating 
profi t margin can be achieved at the end of the 
strategy period.

Ever since the listing, several thousands of 
shareholders have trusted in BasWare and 
I would like to thank them for the past years. 
We hope to be worthy of the trust in the coming 
years when the new phase of internationaliza-
tion is realized.

Ilkka Sihvo
Chairman of the Board 1999–2004 
CEO from January 1, 2005

CEO’s Review
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Profi table Growth Strategy for the 
Years 2004–2007

The BasWare strategy was redefi ned in 2004. 
At the same time, the company vision, mission 
and strategic objectives for 2007 were updated. 
The business strategy has been divided into six 
sub-strategies that lay-out the vision and objec-
tives.

Channel Strategy aims at the global expansion 
of BasWare and acquisition of new customers 
globally. Part of the Channel Strategy are sepa-
rately defi ned strategic market areas of the 
Company.

Customer Relationship Strategy strives at 
creating continuous value to customers with 
software products that add value to customers’ 
fi nancial processes, high quality service and 
continuous customer relationship management. 
Target customers for BasWare products are 
large and medium-sized organizations.

Product Strategy builds product leadership 
which is based on comprehensive product port-
folio, timely development and delivery to the 
market, and utilization of the latest, prudent 
technology.

Brand Strategy creates global awareness to 
BasWare with e.g. strategic networking and 
communications to all stakeholders. All the 
products of the company are being marketed 
with the BasWare brand.

Human Resources Strategy’s focuses on moti-
vated professionals. This strategy is divided into 
four areas: great place to work, excellent lead-
ership, professional people and innovative at-
mosphere.

Business Support Strategy aims for opera-
tional excellence. Business driven management 
model, quality system and process development 
as well as fi nancial and IT administration cen-
tralized in a shared service center are key fac-
tors in fi nding best practices and uniform 
models for operations.
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Mission

Why do we exist?

Value for Financial Processes

BasWare develops leading-edge software that automates fi nancial processes 
of large organizations. We are a forerunner, constantly following 

the needs of our customers.

Vision

What kind of position do we aim at?

BasWare aims at the following market positions in its business areas:

In Invoice Automation
• to sustain the global leadership

In Purchase Management
• to become the leading global provider by integrating the offering with 

Invoice Automation solutions
 

In IFRS* based Financial Management
• to expand the leadership into the European market and become a global forerunner.

*IFRS = International Financial Reporting Standards
Leading refers to market share, product competitiveness and expertise.

Objectives

What are our objectives by the year 2007?

Rapid profi table growth is BasWare’s strategic objective. The fi nancial targets are:
• annual growth of net sales by 40%

– growth is mainly organic
– may be supported by acquisitions extending the global sales channel 

or product portfolio
• operating profi t margin of 15%

In addition, we aim at providing continuous value to our customers, partners, 
employees and shareholders.

Values

What kind of behaviour do we encourage?

BasWare company culture bases on high business ethics and company values 
that guide the operations. These values are the very heart of our culture 

everywhere we operate.

• Aim for achievement
• Be professional
• Build on respect
• Act with courage

Strategy
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Operating Environment

Markets

In the largest market areas of the world, elec-
tronic solutions for invoice processing and pro-
curement remain in their early stages while be-
ing estimated to have signifi cant market poten-
tial. In 2004, the market for products that sup-
port the Financial Value Chain, such as those of 
BasWare’s electronic business solutions, totaled 
1.4 billion dollars according to the research in-
stitute META Group. META estimates that the 
market for these products will increase by 
33–42 percent annually until 2008.

On the other hand, this rapid growth may cre-
ate more competition in BasWare’s electronic 
business market segment. At the moment, the 
market is relatively heterogeneous. Many of the 
competing solutions are tailor-made solutions, 
built especially on top of enterprise resource 
planning (ERP) systems and require heavy cus-
tomer made-to-order project work. BasWare’s 
strengths in this competitive situation are the 
long experience in developing ready-made soft-
ware as well as global distribution and support 
services.

BasWare’s direct competitors operate mainly in 
local markets and are often smaller businesses. 
Document management, scanning and workfl ow 
system vendors cause increasing local competi-
tion, especially in invoice processing for small 
and medium sized companies. However, Bas-
Ware estimates that the expansion of its prod-
uct suite with new value-added products, as 
well as the integrated product offering, will con-
tinue to have a positive impact on the competi-
tiveness of the products.

The competitive situation for BasWare’s fi nan-
cial management products is more stabilized. 
These BasWare products are primarily sold on 
the domestic market in Finland. BasWare is set 
apart from the most signifi cant, globally operat-
ing competitors due to the comprehensive IFRS 
solution built around the consolidation soft-
ware. In addition, many companies still prefer 
spreadsheets for business operation planning 
and reporting.

Customers

BasWare’s customers are large and medium-
sized companies that want to streamline and 
automate their fi nancial processes. Due to glo-
balization, companies are becoming increasing-
ly international and have operations in several 
different countries. This poses a challenge, es-
pecially with regard to the multi-company and 
multi-currency handling required of the solu-
tions. 

Despite internationalization, decision-making in 
the large corporations can be more centralized 
in the headquarters. The tendency towards cen-
tralization is clearly visible also within the fi -
nance and accounting units. Several BasWare’s 
customer organizations are planning to estab-
lish, or have already established, fi nancial 
Shared Service Centers (SSC), where the fi nan-
cial operations of several units are centralized, 
some even across borders. Electronic informa-
tion systems, including electronic invoice pro-
cessing, are a prerequisite for shared service 
centers’ functions.

Legislation

Several regulations regarding accounting and 
fi nancial reporting are currently changing. From 
2005 onwards, all stock listed companies have 
to publish their fi nancial statements according 
to the International Financial Reporting Stand-
ards (IFRS). At BasWare, this particularly affects 
the fi nancial management business as the IFRS 
based group consolidation gains signifi cance in 
the product offering.

With the growing number of international scan-
dals related to fi nancial reporting, corporate 
governance and transparency of actions be-
come increasingly important. In the United 
States, for example, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
(SOX) is already in effect and includes stricter 
regulations on e.g. companies’ cash fl ow man-
agement and internal control. All companies 
listed in the United States have to abide by the 
act and thus it has direct infl uence on European 
corporations as well. The act has an infl uence 
on the demand for BasWare’s electronic busi-
ness products because the products enable 
compliance with the requirements of SOX re-
garding, for example, the complete audit trail 
and archiving of documents. 

In addition, legislation regarding electronic 
business has been renewed. The EU directive 
allowing electronic invoicing and archiving 
came into force in 2004.

Strategy
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Market Areas

How do we expand globally?

As part of the strategy, BasWare’s key strategic 
market areas were defi ned: Nordic, Europe, 
North America and Asia Pacifi c. According to 
the strategy, in the turn of 2004–2005 oper-
ations in Germany, United Kingdom and the 
United States were strengthened, among other 
measures, by doubling the size of the marketing 
and sales organizations in these subsidiaries.

Nordic

BasWare’s whole product range is in Nordic dis-
tribution. This is also the pilot market for new 
products. The sales are mainly based on direct 
operations.

Europe

Direct sales through the own subsidiaries is 
the main revenue source in Europe in the short 
term. Transition from direct to indirect sales 
with multiple strong channel partners in all mar-
kets is a mid-term goal. Strategic markets in 
Europe in 2005 are the UK and Germany. During 
the strategy period 2004–2007 also operations 
in France, Italy and Spain will be strengthened. 
The company will also continuously follow mar-
ket development in the new EU countries.

North America

The United States is one of BasWare’s key stra-
tegic markets. In North America, the short term 
focus is on direct sales. The goal is to build a 
channel network and carry out co-marketing 
activities with various business partners. In the 
long term, the objective is to shift from direct 
to indirect sales. 

Asia Pacifi c

In 2005, the main focus will be on strenghtening 
the position on the Australian market. The com-
pany follows continuously up other markets in 
the area. New market openings will be driven by 
global roll-outs of existing customers.

Product Strategy 

Aiming for product leadership

BasWare’s product strategy was defi ned in 
2004, as part of the renewal of the business 
strategy. Strong emphasis is laid on research 
and development, so that product leadership 
based on an extensive, integrated product port-
folio can be achieved and maintained in the 
main business areas. 

Product development is based on the customer 
needs, aiming at producing visible benefi ts to 
customers. Professional requirements manage-
ment and timely product launches form the 
base of the development work. The product de-
velopment processes focus on product quality, 
fast and agile development cycles and the use 
of latest, prudent technology.

Invoice automation

BasWare’s objective in the purchase invoice 
processing is to develop solutions from elec-
tronic processing to full automation of 
processes. 

The invoice automation solutions cover, in addi-
tion to the traditional Invoice Processing soft-
ware, the electronic invoicing service and value-
added products for matching of recurring in-
voices and invoices with purchase orders. The 
objective in invoice automation is to maintain 
the market leadership. Regarding the electronic 
invoicing service, the objective is to offer the 
solution globally to all BasWare customers, 
starting the operations in Scandinavia.

Purchase management

In the purchase management market, the 
objective is to become a global leader. 

Purchase management offering can be integrat-
ed with the invoice automation solutions and 
thus extend the BasWare product concept to 
cover the entire purchase to pay process. 

In addition, access to relevant sell-side market 
places and integration with supplier systems 
will be offered.

IFRS based Financial Management

In Financial Management, the objective is to ex-
pand the leadership from Finland to other Nor-
dic countries and become a global fore runner. 

In addition to the traditional group consolida-
tion software, the offering includes customized 
models and applications that facilitate compli-
ance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

The objective is to integrate the Financial Man-
agement products to the Invoice Processing 
 solution as well as to other BasWare Electronic 
Business products for the purchase to pay 
 process.

Strategy
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Steady Growth in Finland and Abroad

The international share of BasWare net sales 
was 43.3 percent and international operations 
grew by 31.4 percent. The Company has subsi-
diaries in seven countries and value-added 
resellers in 16 countries, as well as software 
installations in 21 countries.

In 2004, the international operations were 
based on Electronic Business products. The 
Company prepared for the internationalization 
of Financial Management and resolved to start 
the expansion to other Nordic countries in the 
beginning of 2005.

Electronic Business operations grew 27.7 per-
cent in the fi nancial year and represented 82.7 
percent of the total net sales. 52.1 percent of 
the operations were international. Financial 
Management business operations grew 26.7 
percent.

In 2004, new versions of BasWare’s main prod-
ucts – BasWare Invoice Processing, BasWare 
Purchase Management, BasWare Group 
Consolidation and BasWare Business Planning – 
as well as the value-added products were 
launched. Software product sales grew 12.1 per-
cent during the fi nancial period and mainte-
nance revenue 40.6 percent. Services related 
revenue grew 38.7.

Sales and Channel

In 2004, BasWare marketed and sold its prod-
ucts through the Finnish parent company and 
seven subsidiaries in Europe and the United 
States. In addition, the Company had sales op-
erations through partners in six other European 

countries and in Australia. Software installa-
tions were made in 21 countries, of which in 
Canada, Estonia and Russia the fi rst installa-
tions were made during 2004. 

BasWare’s international operations grew 31.4 
percent and totaled EUR 14,125 thousand in 
2004. Partner sales represented a net share 
of 10.6 percent of product net sales that is 
9.4 percent of the total net sales of inter-
national operations.

International operations are based on the 
BasWare Electronic Business operations of 
which the operations outside of Finland repre-
sented a share of 52.1 percent. The internation-
alization of Financial Management was prepared 
in 2004 and the company resolved to begin ex-
pansion to Sweden and Norway in the beginning 
of 2005 and later in the year to Denmark. It was 
also decided to start the sale of the electronic 
invoice service outside of Finland, primarily to 
existing BasWare Invoice Processing customers.

Finland

BasWare’s domestic Electronic Business oper-
ations exceeded their objective in 2004. Net 
sales grew 23.9 percent during the period. Es-
pecially service operations developed signifi -
cantly during the year and achieved an excel-
lent operating profi t.

A signifi cant part of net sales in Finland comes 
from existing customers who extend the usage 
of their solution to new users, also in other 
European countries and North America, or to 
new products that automate invoice processing 
and expand the solution to cover also purchase 
management. The demand for value-added 

Business Operations

Net sales by market area, %,
2004

56.7%
43.3%

Finland
International

Business Operations

Electronic Business
Financial Management

Net sales by business area, %,
2004

82.7%

17.3%
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products, especially for BasWare Recurring 
Invoice Matching and Document Archiving soft-
ware, remained strong throughout the fi nancial 
period. 

BasWare has a strong market position in Fin-
land among large and medium-sized companies, 
in most of the business sectors. BasWare’s 
strengths in the target group are the integrated 
product portfolio for the whole purchase to pay 
process, global support and implementation 
services as well as rich functionalities like the 
multi-company and multi-currency handling and 
interfaces to several Enterprise Resource Plan-
ning systems. These were the most important 
criteria when BasWare was chosen for the deliv-
ery of the solution to several shared service 
centers, including those of Stora Enso, Elisa and 
the S Group.

The electronic invoice volume of the BasWare 
Business Transactions service grew signifi cantly 
in 2004. The transaction volumes were almost 
1.4 million invoices, which is an increase of 
160.6 percent compared with 2003. In the end 
of 2004, the service had over 650 registered 
customers according to the Finnish Information 
Society Development Centre’s register. BasWare 
has made agreements with several banks and 
other electronic invoice operators regarding the 
transmission of invoices between the services. 

In 2004, also the Financial Management oper-
ations reached its objectives in Finland. Net 
sales, which were almost wholly domestic, grew 
26.7 percent compared with 2003. As in the 
Electronic Business unit, also in the Financial 
Management unit the service operations grew 
strongly as a result of several implementation 
projects of IFRS based products during 2004. 

The BasWare Group Consolidation solution con-
tains, in addition to the traditional consolidation 
software, ready-made models and tools comply-
ing with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). This complete solution offer-
ing differs from the other consolidation prod-
ucts in the market, giving BasWare competitive 
edge. The demand for the products remained 
strong in 2004. The products were bought by 
stock-listed companies that are obliged to re-
port according to IFRS in 2005 but the demand 
has also expanded into other companies. 

In planning and budgeting solutions BasWare’s 
market position is particularly strong among 
medium-sized companies. It is typical that Bas-
Ware’s solution is increasingly utilized for plan-
ning business units’ operations and preparing 

rolling estimates. The traditional cost budget-
ing, however, remains alongside in a signifi cant 
position. The demand for the products re-
mained strong throughout the fi nancial period 
and market position was also strengthened 
among the public sector and state-owned 
companies.

Scandinavia

In Scandinavia, BasWare has subsidiaries in 
Sweden and Denmark as well as partner oper-
ations in Norway. Net sales of the Scandinavian 
units were slightly behind their objective and 
growth in 2004 was 6.6 percent. 

Net sales of the Swedish subsidiary grew espe-
cially because of service operations. As in 
Finland, also in Sweden existing customers 
expand their solutions by purchasing additional 
licenses. For example, Scania AB extended their 
invoice processing solution to cover 6,000 new 
users, an additional order worth over EUR 300 
thousand for BasWare. In addition, several new 
BasWare Purchase Management agreements 
were signed in Sweden during the year with, for 
example, Warner Music AB and If P&C Insurance 
Company.

The Danish unit did not reach its sales objec-
tive. As a result, the unit was strengthened in 
the end of the summer by recruiting a new 
country manager. At the same time, the sales 
and marketing activities were reinforced. 

In Norway, business operations have already 
since 1999 been carried out by a partner, Iocore 
AS. The partner agreement with Iocore was ex-
tended from Electronic Business products to 
cover also Financial Management products 
starting in the beginning of 2005. In Sweden 
and Denmark, marketing and sales will continue 
to be conducted by own subsidiaries, also re-
garding Financial Management products.

Europe

The European market area consists of Bas-
Ware’s subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, 
Germany, The Netherlands and France. Net 
sales of the European subsidiaries grew 45.1 
percent during 2004 but were still slightly 
behind their objective. 

During 2004, channel sales units were estab-
lished in the European subsidiaries to account 
for the partner activities in the area by support-
ing existing partners and further developing the 
indirect sales channel. The goal is to fi nd more 
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strong partners for each market area: partners 
that, in addition to sales, are responsible for the 
installation and support services for their cus-
tomers. Of the existing partners, Xerox markets 
and sells BasWare Electronic Business products 
in 12 European countries. 

The Dutch unit exceeded its objectives during 
the year. The sales channel status in the 
Benelux countries is excellent and BasWare has 
altogether seven partners in the area. Agree-
ments signed during the year include, for exam-
ple, reseller Xerox ‘s agreement for the delivery 
of BasWare Invoice Processing to Roularta Me-
dia Group in Belgium, and in the Netherlands 
Canon’s agreement with Miss Etam Retail Serv-
ices, i-Creative’s agreement with the pipe and 
tube company Van Leeuwen Buizen and Swets-
Farrington’s agreement with the Netherlands’ 
largest public transportation company 
Connexxion. Agreements signed through direct 
sales include, for example, the agreement with 
SITA Netherlands for the BasWare Invoice 
Processing and Purchase Management solution. 

The German unit’s performance was weak. A 
new country manager was recruited in the fall, 
and sales and marketing activities were 
strengthened. The most signifi cant agreement 
signed in Germany during 2004 was with 
Europcar. BasWare delivered the invoice auto-
mation solution to the company headquarters 
as well as to approximately 450 rental offi ces 
in Germany. The German unit accounts for 
partners in all the German speaking Europe. 
Germany is one of the strategic market areas 
for BasWare in 2005. 

In 2004, the most of net sales in the United 
Kingdom came from direct sales. At the mo-
ment, Xerox is BasWare’s only partner in the 
UK and Ireland. During the year, BasWare 
signed agreements with Panasonic UK and 
Honda Motor Europe, for example. Alongside 
Germany, United Kingdom is a strategic market 
area in 2005. 

A new subsidiary was founded in France in Jan-
uary 2004 to replace the previous sales offi ce. 
Indirect channels account for almost all sales in 
the area. During the year, fi rst deals with local 
large enterprises, such as Renault, were signed. 
Through the Xerox partnership, the fi rst agree-
ment was signed. There are also other smaller 
partners in the area that support the French 
subsidiary in all sales and installation projects.

Other areas

Outside of Europe, BasWare has currently op-
erations in North America and Australia. The 
area reached its net sales objective in 2004 
with a growth of 789.8 percent.

The year 2004 was the second operating year 
for the United States’ subsidiary. During the 
year, BasWare succeeded in securing a foothold 
in the market by acquiring new customers 
among large local companies such as the cloth-
ing retailer American Eagle Outfi tters, Inc and 
the software company Synopsys, Inc. Also the 
US is one of BasWare’s strategic market areas 
in 2005. In the turn of 2004–2005, new recruit-
ments for the sales and marketing organization 
were made and sales force has been expanded 
across the US to cover all key areas. At the 
same time, a new local country manager took 
over the the management of the operations. 

In Australia, TAG Services Pty. has been Bas-
Ware’s partner since 2002. In the end of 2004, 
a new partner agreement was signed with 
Canon Australia, covering both Australia and 
New Zealand. In addition to acquiring new cus-
tomers, the new partnership improves the avail-
ability of consulting and support services in the 
area.

Customers

According to its Customer Relationship Strat-
egy, BasWare strives for creating continuous 
value to its customers. This can be observed in 
customer-oriented product development as well 
as in customer care. In 2004, BasWare organ-
ized its fi rst international customer event, 
where key customers from each country were 
invited. 

BasWare monitors regularly its customers’ con-
tentment in BasWare’s products and services. In 
2004, an extensive customer satisfaction sur-
vey was realized twice in Finland. In addition, 
the survey was conducted once in Sweden, Den-
mark, Norway, Germany, The Netherlands and 
United Kingdom. Altogether 529 respondents 
evaluated BasWare’s operations, 62.7 percent of 
these were Finnish customers. In addition to the 
customer satisfaction survey, BasWare collects 
customer feedback in each delivery project.

In the November 2004 survey, the customers 
gave good grades to BasWare’s products in gen-
eral. On a scale of 1–5, benefi ts to the customer 
organizations regarding Electronic Business 
products received 3.9 (3.8 in 2003) and bene-
fi ts regarding Financial Management products 
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3.6 (3.9). Especially operations related to the 
electronic invoice service have improved signifi -
cantly compared with the previous year. Cus-
tomer support services and product communi-
cations were regarded as areas of development 
according to the survey.

Electronic Business unit signed 170 new agree-
ments during 2004 whereas in 2003 a total of 
145 agreements were signed. BasWare Invoice 
Processing, BasWare Purchase Management or 
both of these main products were included in 
120 of the agreements. Financial Management 
unit signed altogether 43 agreements in 2004 
which is the equivalent of 2003.

Products and Services

BasWare’s net sales comprise of three core 
functions: product license sales, maintenance 
and services. A local BasWare subsidiary is re-
sponsible for all these operations in each mar-
ket area and supports also the marketing, sales, 
service and support functions of business part-
ners in the area.

The Finnish Electronic Business and Financial 
Management units that are legally part of the 
parent company, operate independently and are 
responsible for all functions in their own busi-
ness areas. As part of the parent company, the 
global sales, marketing and product marketing 
as well as professional services functions sup-
port the operations of the subsidiaries and 
those of the Finnish units.

Products

The user rights for BasWare’s software are 
based on licenses that are sold to customers. 
The license price is dependent on the number 

of end-users as well as the chosen functionali-
ties of the product.

In 2004, BasWare’s net sales from product 
licenses were EUR 12,501 thousand. Product 
sales grew 12.1 percent compared with the previ-
ous year. With the accounting principle used in 
2003, the growth would have been 15.9 percent. 
According to license data, BasWare’s products 
had over 250,000 users in approximately thou-
sand organizations at the end of 2004.

Electronic Business products

The BasWare Electronic Business products 
cover the entire purchase to pay process of an 
organization. The integrated product portfolio, 
based on the “From Need to Payment” product 
concept, includes the BasWare Invoice Process-
ing and BasWare Purchase Management soft-
ware and the BasWare Business Transactions 
service.

The value-added products BasWare Recurring 
Invoice Matching, Order Matching and Docu-
ment Archiving complete the offering. In 2004, 
a new value-added product, BasWare Supplier 
Portal, was launched. It integrates the custom-
ers using BasWare’s solutions with their select-
ed suppliers and other partners through a web 
portal. The full launch of the integrated product 
concept was carried out in all of BasWare’s mar-
ket areas by the end of 2004.

The Electronic Business products enable auto-
mation of procurement and fi nancial processes, 
thus improving process accuracy, transparency 
and control. The products provide time and cost 
savings to customers and enhance the business 
performance.

Financial Management products

The BasWare Financial Management products 
support the fi nance and accounting functions 
of an organization from planning to reporting. 
Financial Management’s main products are the 
BasWare Business Planning software for plan-
ning and budgeting and the BasWare Group 
Consolidation software that can be integrated 
with IFRS Models complying with the Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
The ready-made models contain, for example, 
a general group chart of accounts, input sheets, 
reports and documentation.

In the beginning of 2004, the BasWare Cash 
Flow application that completes the group con-
solidation offering was launched. The software 
enables reporting both direct and indirect cash 

Products
Maintenance
Services

Net sales by segment, %,
2004

41.6%

20.1%

38.3%
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fl ow statements according to the IFRS require-
ments. 

Financial Management products respond to the 
customers’ challenges in fi nancial reporting, 
primarily caused by the constantly changing 
accounting principles. The products enable 
fi nancial management to concentrate on the 
data analysis instead of accounting routines. 
They also support more effective business 
oper ations as a result of faster reporting and 
more accurate forecasts.

Maintenance

The maintenance covers product support and 
the rights to new versions of the product. It is 
based on continuous agreements and so they 
guarantee steady and predictable revenue to 
the company. Maintenance revenue grew 40.6 
percent and totaled EUR 6,560 thousand in 
2004.

The annual maintenance fee is 18–20 percent of 
the purchased product license fees. In addition 
to standard maintenance, the customer can al-
so acquire a more comprehensive, Premium 
maintenance agreement that includes for ex-
ample faster response periods to support en-
quiries and a named contact person for the 
support. 

At local customer support units all the support 
requests are entered in a group wide support 
system that was taken in to full use in 2004. 
With the help of the new system, response 
times have shortened, development ideas can 
be found in one place and the follow-up of the 
product development process occurs in real 
time.

Altogether 27 persons worked at the local and 
global customer support units at the end of 
2004, and this represents 8.9 percent of the 
total amount of personnel.

Services

BasWare’s service operations include services 
related to software installations, implementa-
tion and updates as well as training, mainte-
nance and support services. The services are 
mainly invoiced according to hourly fees based 
on actual working time. In 2004, the net sales 
from services grew by a record breaking 38.7 
percent and totaled in EUR 13,578 thousand.

Altogether 34.4 percent of BasWare’s personnel 
worked at the service units at the end of 2004. 

This is an increase of 1.7 percent compared with 
the end of 2003. The relative growth of services 
revenue per person is explained by more effi -
cient, well-established working methods and 
the increased knowledge of the consultants.

Local consulting units are responsible for the 
delivery projects that cover for example the 
planning and consulting of the customer’s solu-
tion, technical implementation and project man-
agement. A total of about 200 delivery projects 
were on-going during 2004. The number covers 
both the projects related to deliveries of new 
products as well as projects related to product 
updates. In 2004 a special task force unit was 
established as part of the Global Professional 
Services. This new unit supported the local 
units with demanding delivery projects of the 
complete purchase to pay solution. 

Courses on BasWare’s products that are open 
to all end users, are mainly organized in the 
Finnish units. The courses have received good 
feedback and according to the customer sur-
veys, out of all the services offered by BasWare 
customers are most satisfi ed in the trainings. 

Fees from the electronic invoice service and 
revenue from selling third party products have 
been included in the net sales of the services 
operations in the BasWare Financial State-
ments.

Research and Development

Innovative development the key 
to product leadership

BasWare’s research and development work has 
two main objectives: development related to 
new products and versions and long-term de-
velopment of the technological platform. Sig-
nifi cant investments in product development 
continued through 2004.
 
In 2004 BasWare’s product development costs 
totaled EUR 4,604 thousand, an increase of 
11.9% over 2003. The company changed the 
accounting principle for product development 
costs at the start of 2004. As a result, 23.1%, 
or EUR 1,062 thousand in product develop -
ment costs were capitalized. Previously, all 
product development costs had been booked 
as expenses.

At the end of 2004, there were 65 persons 
working in research and development, an in-
crease of 6 persons over 2003. Of the total 
number of personnel, 21.5% work in research 
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and development. The company’s research and 
development operations are carried out in 
Espoo and Tampere, Finland. In addition, long-
term subcontractors are used in development 
work when needed.

New products and product launches

As planned, new versions of the main products 
in the Electronic Business portfolio were re-
leased in fall 2004. BasWare Invoice Processing 
version 3.1 includes a ProClient application for 
advanced users as well as over 200 new and 
improved product features. BasWare Purchase 
Management version 3.0 enables the use of 
product catalogues to facilitate purchase requi-
sitions. In the future, the goal is to release new 
product versions more often, i.e. two to four per 
year, but with less extensive updates. BasWare 
Business Transactions, the electronic invoicing 
service, also had several product upgrades this 
year. 

During 2004, there was signifi cant develop-
ment to the value-added modules, which com-
plete the Electronic Business product suite. 
New versions of BasWare Recurring Invoice 
Matching and BasWare Order Matching were re-
leased in the fall. At the same time, the newest 
value-added module, BasWare Supplier Portal, 
was launched.

Financial Management product development 
focused mainly on the development of the Bas-
Ware Group Consolidation software and the 
IFRS models that complement the software. 
Four new software and model versions were 
released in 2004. A new value-added module, 
BasWare Cash Flow solution, which completes 

the Group Consolidation solution offering, was 
released at the beginning of 2004. A new ver-
sion of BasWare Business Planning was re-
leased in 2004 and the next version will be 
released in the fi rst quarter of 2005.

The development of technology

The main direction in BasWare product develop-
ment is the shift from Visual Basic program-
ming to Microsoft’s .NET Architecture. The shift 
has been initiated with a project which develops 
a common Microsoft .NET based software plat-
form for Electronic Business products. With the 
help of a common platform, it is possible to 
speed up and strengthen the development of 
individual products and projects. The National 
Technology Agency in Finland, Tekes, funded 
the project throughout 2003–2004. In addition, 
.NET technology has been used to initiate the 
development of the invoice processing software 
and the related interface gateway. 

It has been planned that in the long run, Finan-
cial Management products would also be devel-
oped using .NET architecture. The development 
of the electronic invoicing service, on the other 
hand, will continue using J2EE (Java 2 Enter-
prise Edition) architecture.

Using the project model for better 
quality development work

One of the three core processes of BasWare’s 
operations regards the product lifecycle, start-
ing with the defi nition of the product require-
ments through to the end when the product is 
ready for delivery. The Process Model was re-
newed in 2004 and the product development 
unit was also reorganized to correspond with 
the model. The R&D organization is now project 
oriented, which provides a more effi cient way 
of working while improving the planning and 
execution of product development. Examples 
of the strengths of a project oriented organiza-
tion can be recognized in the frequent releases 
of new product versions and in the predictabil-
ity of development work.

Much attention has been placed on improving 
the quality of products in 2004. Most import-
antly, focus was centered on product require-
ments’ management, documentation and test-
ing practices. In June 2004, the National Tech-
nology Agency, Tekes, resolved to support 
BasWare’s testing and component practices 
with it’s donation of a product development 
grant, part of the Software Engineering and 
Tools (SWENG) technology program. 
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Product development
costs, of net sales

Product development costs 14.1%

Capitalized product development costs 3.3%



w w w. b a swa re .co m /a n n u a l re p o r t

16

The Professional way of working campaign, 
organized for the entire product management 
group focused on developing product manage-
ment practices and on assisting employees be-
come more conscious of customers’ needs. At-
tention has also been placed on ensuring easy 
installment of the products, making them better 
suited for indirect sales.

Future Outlook

The economic situation has improved to some 
extent in the end of 2004 which can also be ob-
served in the slight revival of software market. 
BasWare’s solutions provide savings to custom-
ers and thus, the demand for the solutions has 
not been strongly dependent on the prevailing 
economic trend. Also the new regulations on 
fi nancial reporting and corporate governance 
may strengthen the demand for the Company’s 
products. According to several research insti-
tutes, the market for the Company’s products 
is growing faster than the general economic 
growth. 

The competitiveness of BasWare’s software is 
still good and positively infl uenced by the ex-
pansion of the product portfolio and the solu-
tion concept that the products form together. 
Although no substantial changes in the com-
petitive situation have occurred, increasing 
local competition can be observed in some 
market areas especially regarding small and 
medium-sized organizations acquiring invoice 
processing solutions.

Investments in growth continue

In 2005 the Company aims to continue its 
growth which is based on continuous invest-
ments in sales and marketing activities. The in-
vestments will mainly focus on existing market 
areas. In the turn of 2004–2005, the Company’s 

sales and marketing organization was more 
than doubled in the strategic markets of the 
United States, Germany and United Kingdom. 

The development of the indirect sales channel 
will continue in Europe and channel operations 
will also be launched in the North American 
market. In addition to the partners’ channel ac-
tivities, new business will be generated through 
Purchase Management and value-added prod-
ucts. The international launch of these products 
was fi nalized during 2004.

BasWare will also start reviewing possible ac-
quisitions targets in the Nordic countries. With 
the acquisitions, the Company can extend the 
international sales channel and product port-
folio. They may also strengthen the Company’s 
position in the Nordic electronic invoicing 
market.

The marketing and sales activities for Financial 
Management’s products were started in Sweden 
and Norway in the beginning of 2005 in order 
to assure the growth of the business oper-
ations. The domestic growth of Electronic Busi-
ness and Financial Management which is based 
on the development of services and new prod-
ucts is slower than that of the international 
operations but still faster than in the Finnish 
software markets in general.

Outlook for 2005

BasWare expects that the organic growth of net 
sales will be over 20 percent in 2005. Operating 
profi t is expected to be greater than in the pre-
vious year, i.e. EUR 4,663 thousand. The operat-
ing profi t for the fi rst quarter of the year is ex-
pected to be lower than that of the same period 
last year since the investments in sales made in 
the end of 2004 elevate the cost level.
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Corporate Responsibility

Corporate responsibility is based on legislation, 
high business ethics and BasWare’s values. For 
BasWare, corporate responsibility means res-
ponsible business operations as part of the en-
tire society. The Company is responsible for its 
operations not only to its shareholders but also 
to its personnel and other interest groups. Bas-
Ware is committed to responsible actions in all 
of its operations be it in economic, social or en-
vironmental responsibility.

Operational excellence is an important part of 
BasWare’s operations. It is supported by com-
mon working methods and IT systems and the 
continuous development of both of these areas. 
As part of the Quality Management System, 
BasWare has defi ned its operations’ three core 
processes. Operational excellence of the pro-
cesses is monitored, for example, by internal 
process audits as well as by customer and 
personnel surveys.

Economic responsibility

According to the Company strategy, BasWare’s 
objective is to continuously create value to its 
customers, partners, employees and sharehold-
ers. BasWare’s aim is profi table economic 
growth and this objective forms a base for the 
two other areas of corporate responsibility.

BasWare has successfully distributed profi t to 
its shareholders every year since it was listed 
on the Helsinki Stock Exchange in 2000. In 
2004, the company paid a total of EUR 
1,026,072 as dividends to its shareholders of 
the profi t for 2003. The Board of Directors pro-
poses that a dividend of EUR 0.12 be paid for 
2004, a total of EUR 1,032,876 with the number 
of shares on December 31, 2004. 

Not only the shareholders but also the person-
nel benefi t from the Company’s capability of 
generating profi t. In 2004, the salaries and bo-
nuses paid to the personnel and management 
amounted EUR 13,508 thousand. All employees 
are included in the BasWare bonus program. 
The Company paid a total of EUR 2,970 thou-
sand in pension and social security expenses. 
Income taxes on actual business in 2004 were 
EUR 2,275 thousand or 7.0 percent of net sales.

Corporate Responsibility

Environmental responsibility

The direct environmental impacts of BasWare’s 
solutions are fairly minimal. BasWare’s solu-
tions promote paperless operations and fi nan-
cial management in the customer organizations 
which in part can contribute to the decrease 
of offi ce waste.

The corporate headquarters in Espoo, Finland, 
follow an environmental management system 
which was granted a WWF Green Offi ce Certifi -
cate in December 2003. The Green Offi ce sys-
tem aims at supporting everyday actions that 
save energy and raw material.

In 2004, the electricity consumption at the 
headquarters increased 6.9 percent compared 
with 2003. However, the consumption per per-
son decreased 2.8 percent and was 1,297.6 kWh.

Social responsibility

The motivated personnel are the cornerstone 
of BasWare’s social responsibility. BasWare is a 
responsible employer that offers its personnel 
the chance for career development and person-
al growth at work. Thanks to profi table growth, 
the Company has not been forced to lay off 
personnel due to productional or economical 
reasons. 

BasWare takes responsibility of the surrounding 
environment by supporting non-profi t organiza-
tions. Since 2002 BasWare has been actively in 
cooperation with the welfare organization Plan 
that supports children in developing countries. 
The Company sponsors altogether 12 children 
around the world. BasWare supports the 
children’s living conditions and education in 
developing countries. BasWare takes also part 
in Plan’s “Cameroon Little Lions” project by 
sponsoring children’s sports teams of a village 
in Cameroon and at the same time supporting 
development projects realized in the village.

As in previous years, in 2004 BasWare donated 
a part of its Christmans funds to Plan. In addi-
tion, BasWare made a donation to the Plan ca-
tastrophe fund that helps the victims of the 
tsunami disaster in Asia.
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Motivated professionals aiming 
for achievements

BasWare’s human resources management is 
guided by the HR strategy, which was approved 
in December 2003. The strategy is divided into 
four areas: great place to work, professional 
people, excellent leadership and innovative at-
mosphere. The implementation of the HR strat-
egy began in 2004. In 2004, BasWare had an 
average of 280 employees. 302 people were 
employed at the end of the year, increasing the 
number of employees by 18.9 percent compared 
with the number of employees working at the 
end of 2003. Approximately 31.5 percent of per-
sonnel work outside of Finland. The average 
age of the personnel is 33.9 years. 69.5 percent 
of employees are men and 30.5 percent are 
women. On average, the personnel is highly ed-
ucated: 72.5 percent hold a Master’s or Bach-
elor’s degree.

Great place to work

BasWare’s personnel enjoy their work – the em-
ployee satisfaction survey, conducted in Octo-
ber 2004, attests to this. The survey was con-
ducted for the eighth time with over 81.4 per-
cent of the personnel responding. Results were, 
once again, excellent. The questions regarding 
the work performance of the own supervisor 
received the highest scores while the questions 
on remuneration and career development re-
ceived the lowest scores. The personnel have 
stronger trust than before in BasWare’s long 
term success and in the management’s capabil-
ity to give clear direction to the company 
operations.

The employee satisfaction survey also demon-
strated that BasWare’s business operations and 
values – aim for achievement, be professional, 
build on respect and act with courage – are well 
applied in practice and balanced with business 
operations. Compared to the 2003 survey, the 
employees show more trust in the top level 
management’s ability to act according to these 
values. BasWare rewards annually Employees of 
the Year who have exemplarily represented 
BasWare values. In January 2005, six employ-
ees from different business units were reward-
ed as Employees of 2004. 

BasWare supports the personnel’s leisure activi-
ties by contributing to part of the costs. Bas-
Ware’s teams also participate in diverse sport-
ing events. The BasWare personnel in Finland 
and abroad also celebrated the 2003 Interna-
tionalization Award that the President of Fin-
land awarded to BasWare. The leisure commit-

tees of the parent company and its subsidiaries 
organized summer and Christmas parties and 
other personnel events during the year.

Professional people

The competitiveness of BasWare’s operations 
and its personnel is guaranteed by developing 
strategic competencies. BasWare’s strategic 
competencies were identifi ed during the rede-
fi nement of the business strategy in 2004. 
Based on the defi nition of the competencies, 
a development program was outlined. This 
program will be initiated in 2005. 

The Professional Way of Working campaign be-
gan in the fall of 2004. Intended for all product 
management personnel in research and devel-
opment, product marketing and customer sup-
port, this campaign will continue through to the 
spring of 2005. As part of the campaign, train-
ing sessions were held for the development of 
working methods of product management, 
product quality and for raising awareness of 
customers’ and stakeholders’ needs. In addition, 
several technical training sessions were con-
ducted and management and project leadership 
competencies were developed for example by 
mentoring.

Excellent leadership

Excellent leadership encourages and guides the 
actions of BasWare’s personnel according to the 
strategy and core values of the company. Each 
BasWarean has a personal balanced scorecard 
that is scored according to the results of their 
working unit, as well as on the results of the en-
tire company. The goals of the balanced score 
card are agreed on at biannual goal and devel-
opment discussions. All personnel are included 
in the bonus program and its goals depend on 
those of the personal scorecard and on the 
overall performance of the company. In 2005, 
a more diversifi ed compensation model will be 
introduced based on the wishes expressed and 
gathered from the personnel in a survey con-
ducted in the fall of 2004.

Innovative atmosphere

BasWare’s business operations develop further 
through active participation and learning from 
the personnel’s part. In 2004, senior and middle 
management actively participated in the strat-
egy process, redefi ning BasWare’s business 
strategy and renewing the product strategy. In 
August 2004, a signifi cant part of the person-
nel participated in coming up with ideas for 
enhancing strategy implementation.

Corporate Responsibility

Personnel
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BasWare Corporate Governance 
Statement

BasWare Corporation is a publicly listed com-
pany which, in its decision-making and adminis-
tration, complies with the Company’s Articles of 
Association, the Finnish Companies Act, and 
other legislation concerning public companies. 
In addition, BasWare complies with the Recom-
mendation on Corporate Governance with the 
exceptions explained in this statement, as well 
as the Helsinki Stock Exchange Guidelines for 
Insiders.

BasWare Group comprises of the parent com-
pany BasWare Corp., and of its seven foreign 
subsidiaries. BasWare Corp. is a public company 
registered in Finland and has its domicile in 
Espoo. BasWare Corporation’s administrative 
bodies and offi cers with the greatest decision-
making power are the General Meeting of 
Shareholders, Board of Directors and CEO 
(managing director).

General Meeting

The General Meeting is the highest decision-
making body of BasWare Corporation. The An-
nual General Meeting is summoned once a year, 
within six months following the end of the fi -
nancial period, on a date set by the Board of 
Directors. Extraordinary General Meetings are 
arranged if necessary during the year. Accord-
ing to the Articles of Association, the General 
Meeting is held in Espoo (the company domi-
cile), Helsinki, or Vantaa in Finland. The notice 
of the General Meeting and advance informa-
tion on matters to be dealt with at the meeting 
are published in at least one Finnish-language 
daily newspaper published in Finland, disclosed 
as a stock exchange release and made available 
on the Company website.

The Annual General Meeting decides on the 
following matters:
• approving of the Income Statement and the 

Balance Sheet
• measures occasioned by the profi t or loss 

according to the approved Balance Sheet
• discharge from liability to the members of the 

Board and the CEO
• number of members of the Board and election 

of the members
• election of regular Auditors and the deputy 

auditors
• remunerations to the members of the Board 

and the Auditors
• other matters mentioned in the notice to the 

General Meeting

Year 2004

The Annual General Meeting was held on 
February 24, 2004. The AGM handled the 
matters pursuant to Article 13 of the Articles 
of Association. In addition, the AGM author-
ized the Board of Directors to increase the 
share capital in one or more issues by issuing 
new shares and/or convertible bonds and/or 
by warrants in such a way that the new share 
issues or convertible bonds or warrants au-
thorize to subscribe a maximum of 1,710,120 
new shares. According to the authorization, 
the share capital can be increased with a 
maximum of EUR 513,036.00.

Board of Directors

Duties and Responsibilities

The Board of Directors is responsible for the 
Company’s management and the appropriate 
arrangement of its operations. The Board su-
pervises the Company’s operations and man-
agement and decides on signifi cant matters 
concerning Company strategy, organization, 
fi nancing and investments. The essential duties 
and responsibilities of the Board are defi ned 
primarily by the Articles of Association and the 
Finnish Companies Act. The Board confi rms 
annually a working order that records the 
Board meeting procedure and the tasks of the 
Board.

The tasks of the Board as defi ned in the work-
ing order are to:
• assume responsibility for the tasks defi ned in 

the Companies Act, Articles of Association or 
elsewhere so stipulated

• confi rm the Company strategy and objectives
• confi rm the Company values and ethical prin-

ciples
• approve the Company’s management system 

and organizational structure
• approve the Company’s operating plan and 

signifi cant alterations thereof
• approve the Company’s internal control and 

risk management practices and monitor their 
compliance

• approve the interim reports, fi nancial state-
ments and report of the Board

• assume responsibility for the disclosure of 
stock market profi t guidance

• approve the Company’s fi nancing policy
• assume responsibility for the development of 

share value and defi ne the dividend policy
• approve company acquisitions and sells as 

well as signifi cant individual investments and 
contingent liabilities

Corporate Governance
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• approve the remuneration systems 
• appoint and discharge the executive manage-

ment as well as decide on their terms of con-
tract and remuneration

• decide on the founding of subsidiaries
• assume responsibility for the development of 

the Corporate Governance
• evaluate own activities annually
• assess the performance of the CEO and give 

feedback

The BasWare Board of Directors includes in ac-
cordance to the Articles of Association a mini-
mum of four and a maximum of eight regular 
members. The Board members are chosen by 
the Annual General Meeting for a term of offi ce 
that expires at the end of the fi rst Annual Gen-
eral Meeting following the election. The Articles 
of Association does not include any specifi c or-
ders for appointing members to the Board of 
Directors. The Board of Directors will select a 
chairman and vice chairman amongst the mem-
bers. The Board has a quorum if more that half 
of the members is present.

Year 2004

The Annual General Meeting on February 24, 
2004 elected seven members to the Board 
of Directors. Their term will last until the 
closing of the following AGM. Kirsi Eräkangas, 
Sakari Perttunen, Antti Pöllänen, Ilkka Sihvo 
and Hannu Vaajoensuu were re-elected and 
Esa Korvenmaa and Ossi Pohjola were elect-
ed as new members. Ilkka Sihvo continued as 
the Chairman of the Board.

Five members of the Board hold a position in 
the Company and each of them own over 10 
percent of all the shares of the Company 
when the ownership of persons under 
guardianship or in companies under control 
is taken into account. Two of the members 
are independent of the Company and its 
signifi cant shareholders.

Ilkka Sihvo resigned from the Board on 
January 1, 2005 when he was appointed as 
the CEO of the Company. The Board elected 
Hannu Vaajoensuu as the new chairman. 

The Board had 19 meetings during the year 
2004. The average attendance of the direc-
tors at the Board meetings was 92 percent. 
The Board members were paid a fee of 
EUR 700 per meeting. The meeting fees 
totaled EUR 17,600 in 2004. In addition to 
meeting fees the Board members were given 
6,000 Series C warrants of BasWare Finland 

II Warrant Program. Meeting fees and war-
rants are not paid to those members of the 
Board who work full-time in the Company.

Board Committees

Compensation and 
Nomination Committee

The Board has nominated among its members 
a Compensation and Nomination Committee to 
handle the remuneration and benefi ts of the ex-
ecutive management, to identify persons suit-
able for the Board and to prepare recommenda-
tions to the Annual General Meeting on the 
composition of the Board and the compensa-
tion to the Board members. The task of the 
Committee is also to review the Company’s re-
muneration system and its development. The 
term of offi ce of the Compensation and Nomi-
nation Committee is the same as the term of 
the Board of Directors.

Year 2004

The members of the Committee in 2004 
are Board members Esa Korvenmaa, Sakari 
Perttunen and Ossi Pohjola who acts as the 
Chairman of the Committee. In 2004, the 
committee had in total fi ve meetings with 
attendance percentage of 100. The compen-
sation for the meetings was EUR 200 per 
hour. However, compensation was not paid 
to those working full-time in the Company. 
The fees paid to the Committee totaled 
EUR 1,600.

Audit Committee

The Board of Directors has not nominated an 
Audit Committee as the extent of the Compa-
ny’s business operations does not require prep-
aration of matters relating to fi nancial report-
ing and control in a smaller group of directors 
than the Board.

CEO and Other Management

CEO
The Board appoints the CEO (Managing Direc-
tor) of BasWare Corporation. The CEO is in 
charge of the day-to-day management of the 
Company in accordance with the instructions 
and orders given by the Board as well as the 
Companies Act.

The Board decides and approves on the service 
terms and conditions of the CEO, specifi ed in 
writing. Currently the CEO has:
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• 6 months’ period of notice and salary for the 
period of notice and is in addition entitled to 
a severance payment equivalent of a 12-month 
salary if the Company terminates the service

• 6 months’ period of notice and salary for the 
period of notice if the person terminates the 
service himself in which case the person is 
not entitled to a severance payment

• 12-month exclusion of competition starting 
from the end of the service

• bonus system in which the bonus is capped 
at 50 percent of the salary

• retirement age and pension benefi ts pursuant 
to the Employees’ Pensions Act (TEL)

Full-time Chairman of the Board holds a posi-
tion in the Company. The period of notice and 
the severance payment are equivalent to those 
of the CEO. However, the Chairman is not a 
member of the Company’s bonus program.

Year 2004

Hannu Vaajoensuu acted as the CEO of the 
Company. The CEO’s salary and other bene-
fi ts totaled EUR 116,398 in 2004. Salary in 
money was EUR 105,718 and fringe benefi ts 
totaled EUR 10,680. The CEO was not paid 
bonus from 2003. In addition, he was given 
11,000 Series A warrants of the BasWare 
Finland II Warrant Program. 
 
President Ilkka Sihvo was responsible for fi -
nance and Scandinavian operations of the 
Company. His salary including benefi ts to-
taled EUR 112,471 in 2004. Salary in money 
was EUR 99,612 and fringe benefi ts totaled 
EUR 12,859. No bonus from 2003 was paid. 
In addition, the remuneration included 9,000 
Series A warrants of the BasWare Finland II 
Warrant Program in 2004.

On October 11, 2004 the Board of Directors 
of the BasWare Corp. appointed Ilkka Sihvo 
as the CEO of the Company as of January 1, 
2005. Hannu Vaajoensuu was then appoint-
ed full-time Chairman of the Board.

Executive Team

BasWare Group’s Executive Team (management 
team) assists the CEO in the operative manage-
ment of the Company, prepares matters han-
dled by the Board and the CEO as well as plans 
and monitors business unit operations. The Ex-
ecutive Team convenes once a month. The CEO 
acts as chairman of the Executive Team. 

The compensation principles of the Executive 
Team members are decided by the Board. 

The compensation system consists of a base 
monthly salary, warrants and annual bonus 
based on performance.

Year 2004

Members of the Executive Team in 2004 
were Hannu Vaajoensuu (CEO, Chairman of 
the Board), Kirsi Eräkangas, Juha Heiskanen, 
Olli Hyppänen, Petri Karjalainen, Ulla 
Martola, Antti Pöllänen, Ilkka Sihvo (Presi-
dent), Jukka Tapaninen, Jari Tavi and, as of 
November 2004, Esa Tihilä. The members 
of the Executive Team, excluding the CEO 
and President, were paid a total of EUR 
524,338 in salaries, EUR 60,984 in fringe 
benefi ts and EUR 13,095 in bonuses of which 
EUR 10,460 were based on performance in 
2003.

In the beginning of 2005, members of the 
Executive Team were Ilkka Sihvo (CEO, 
Chairman of the Executive Team), Juha 
Heiskanen, Olli Hyppänen, Petri Karjalainen, 
Ulla Martola, Sakari Perttunen, Jukka 
Tapaninen, Jari Tavi and Esa Tihilä.

The members of the Executive Team and 
their holdings are presented on page 24.

Internal Control, Risk Management 
and Internal Audit

The main responsibility for the bookkeeping 
and fi nancial administration lies with the 
BasWare Corporation’s Board of Directors. The 
Board is responsible for internal control, and 
the CEO is responsible for the practical 
arrangements and monitoring of the control 
system. The steering and monitoring of the 
business operations is based on the reporting 
and business planning system covering the total 
Group. Actual fi gures are monitored monthly by 
business area and subsidiary. These fi gures 
cover i.e. the net sales and profi t, order base, 
receivables and cash fl ows. The rolling estimate 
is always prepared for a period of at least three 
months. The CEO will deliver an overview of 
Group performance and development to both 
the Board and Executive Team meetings.

The Group risk management framework has 
been confi rmed as a part of the monitoring sys-
tem at BasWare. The purpose of risk manage-
ment is to ensure that the essential uncertain-
ties affecting business operations are identifi ed 
and are monitored appropriately. The Company 
operational and fi nancial risks are centrally 
managed in the Group fi nancial management, 
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and risks are reported monthly to the Board. 
Risks arising from the Company’s operations 
and related to property, occupational safety 
and liability for damage are covered by means 
of appropriate insurance policies. 

The Company’s internal audit functions in 
cooperation with the Group fi nancial manage-
ment and the Auditors. The function performs 
a regular audit in the different business units as 
well as in the subsidiaries. The purpose is to en-
sure the compliance to the consistent adminis-
tration and accounting practices in the Group, 
and the distribution of information between the 
Group management and the business units. In-
ternal audit function reports directly to the 
Board of Directors, and the Board approves 
the annual internal audit plan.

Insider Administration

BasWare has approved insider guidelines which 
follow Guidelines for Insiders adopted by the 
Helsinki Stock Exchange. The guidelines forbid 
insiders, including persons under their 
guardianship and companies where they exer-
cise control, to trade in shares or warrants is-
sued by the company prior to the publication 
of an interim report or a fi nancial statements 
bulletin.

The Company statutory insiders include mem-
bers of the Board, CEO, Auditors and the 
employee of an audit fi rm having the main re-
sponsibility for the audit. In addition, the perma-
nent insider register includes the following per-
sons by defi nition: Executive Team members, 
named persons from the fi nancial management, 
communications manager, executive assistant 
and lawyer, who also acts as Board secretary. 
Persons who take part in acquisitions or other 
projects that are likely to have a material effect 
on the value of a security issued by the compa-
ny are project-specifi c insiders and they are 
subject to temporary restriction on trading. 

The Company lawyer is in charge of informing 
and supervising insider issues. The communica-
tions manager takes care of the register of per-
manent insiders and, when needed, temporary 
insiders. The insider register of BasWare Corp or-
ation is maintained by the Finnish Central Secu-
rities Depository Ltd. Up-to-date ownership data 
on insiders can be viewed at its offi ce in Helsinki, 
at the address Unioninkatu 32 B, 6th fl oor.

External Audit

The auditing function required by law is to veri-
fy that the Financial Statements give accurate 

and adequate information about the Group re-
sult and fi nancial position for the year under 
review. In addition, the Auditors report to the 
Board of Directors on the ongoing auditing of 
administration and operations.

According to the Articles of Association, Bas-
Ware Corporation has at minimum one and at 
maximum two regular Auditors appointed by 
the Annual General Meeting, at least one of 
which is an auditing fi rm approved by the Cen-
tral Chamber of Commerce. Additionally, the 
company has at minimum one and at maximum 
two deputy Auditors. A proposal for the elec-
tion of Auditor prepared by the Board is dis-
closed in the notice to the General Meeting.

Year 2004

The Auditor of BasWare is currently Price-
waterhouseCoopers Oy, Authorized Public 
Accountants, with APA Juha Väisänen in 
charge and APA Markku Marjomaa as his 
deputy. The Company paid Pricewaterhouse-
Coopers Oy EUR 34,265 as fees for audit. 
Fees for non-audit services, relating for ex-
ample to the Company’s shift to the Main 
List and to IFRS reporting, paid to Price-
waterhouseCoopers Oy totaled EUR 35,612. 
Non-audit fees for companies of the same 
member fi rm offi ces outside of Finland 
totaled EUR 71,055 in 2004 and included 
accounting and payroll administration of 
certain subsidiaries.

Communication and Disclosure

The purpose of BasWare investor relations and 
communications is to provide reliable, trans-
parent and up-to-date information about the 
Company to the markets so that the sharehold-
ers can evaluate the Company as an investment 
target and decide on their holdings. Before pub-
lishing information on the fi nancial results, a 
two-week period of silence is observed during 
which no questions regarding the performance 
of the Company are answered. 

The company publishes all stock exchange re-
leases and other disclosures, within the frame-
work of obligation to provide information con-
tinuously, in both Finnish and English on the 
company website. Stock exchange releases can 
also be ordered by email through the website. 
BasWare publishes the Annual Report on its 
website where it is impartially available to all 
shareholders. Also the BasWare Corporate Gov-
ernance Statement is available on the website.
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BasWare Board of Directors 
January 1, 2005

Hannu Vaajoensuu, born 1961
Chairman of the Board, BasWare Corp.
MSc (Econ)
Board member since: 1990
Primary working experience:
Specialist and managerial positions at BasWare 
since 1987. CEO of BasWare Corp. 1999–2004
BasWare’s shares: 1,155,800
BasWare’s warrants: 29,080

Kirsi Eräkangas, born 1965
Senior Vice President, BasWare Corp.
MSc (Econ), EMBA
Board member since: 1993
Primary working experience:
Specialist and managerial positions at BasWare 
since 1988, currently Senior Vice President of 
Global Professional Services
BasWare’s shares: 1,141,800
BasWare’s warrants: 11,080

Esa Korvenmaa, born 1954
Senior Vice President, TeliaSonera Finland Oy
MSc (Tech)
Board member since: 2004
Primary working experience:
Managerial positions in the IT industry, previ-
ously acted as CEO of Stonesoft Corp. and 
Hewlett-Packard Finland as well as Manager of 
Wireless Transmission Products at Nokia Corp. 
Other simultaneous positions of trust:
Datainfo Oy, Member of the Board
Infonet Finland Oy, Member of the Board
Telering Oy, Member of the Board
BasWare’s shares: none
BasWare’s warrants: 6,000

Sakari Perttunen, born 1957
CFO (act.), BasWare Corp. 
MSc (Econ)
Board member since: 1987
Primary working experience:
Specialist and management positions at 
BasWare since 1987, currently responsible 
for fi nancial and other corporate functions
BasWare’s shares: 830,400
BasWare’s warrants: 13,350

Ossi Pohjola, born 1957
Management Consultant
BSc
Board member since: 2004
Primary working experience:
Previously worked as Managing Director of 
Andersen Consulting in Finland and Senior Vice 
President at Oracle 
Other simultaneous positions of trust:
AffectoGenimap Group plc., Member of the 
Board
Insta Visual Solutions Oy, Member of the Board
Instrumentointi Oy, Member of the Board 
BasWare’s shares: none
BasWare’s warrants: 6,000

Antti Pöllänen, born 1966
CTO, BasWare Corp.
MSc (Econ)
Board member since: 1993
Primary working experience:
Consulting and specialist positions at BasWare 
since 1989, currently responsible for the tech-
nologies used in products
BasWare’s shares: 1,144,900
BasWare’s warrants: 11,080

The number of shares includes also the hold-
ings of organizations under control and those 
of children under guardianship. The distribution 
of holdings can be seen in the table on page 45.
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BasWare Executive Team
January 1, 2005

Ilkka Sihvo, born 1962
CEO
MSc (Econ), MSc (Tech)
At BasWare since 1989
Previous work experience: 
Expert and management positions at 
BasWare 
BasWare’s shares: 1,155,800
BasWare’s warrants: 24,080

Juha Heiskanen, born 1956
Senior Vice President, Financial Management
MSc (Econ)
At BasWare since 1989
Previous work experience: 
Financial management positions e.g. at 
SanomaWSOY and ABB Service
BasWare’s shares: 300
BasWare’s warrants: 11,360

Olli Hyppänen, born 1966
Senior Vice President, Research & Development 
MSc (Tech)
At BasWare since 2003
Previous work experience: 
Product development and project management 
positions e.g. at Tellabs and Tecnomen Corp., 
lastly as Director, Supply Chain Engineering at 
Tellabs
BasWare’s shares: none
BasWare’s warrants: 10,000

Petri Karjalainen, born 1963
General Manager, Nordic
At BasWare since 2002
Previous work experience:
Managerial positions in the IT and telecommu-
nications industry e.g. worked at Sonera Zed UK 
as Vice President of Business Development
BasWare’s shares: none
BasWare’s warrants: 5,850

Ulla Martola, born 1962
Senior Vice President, 
Human Recources & Development
MSc (Econ)
At BasWare since 2002
Previous work experience:
Managerial positions in consulting and human 
resources management e.g. at Talent Partners 
Corp. as well as at KPMG Wideri Oy Ab and 
KPMG Consulting Oy Ab 
BasWare’s shares: none 
BasWare’s warrants: 6,000

Sakari Perttunen, born 1957
CFO (act.)
MSc (Econ)
At BasWare since 1987
Previous work experience:
Expert and managerial positions at BasWare, 
lastly as CTO
BasWare’s shares: 830,400
BasWare’s warrants: 13,350

Jukka Tapaninen, born 1963
General Manager, Europe
MSc (Econ)
At BasWare since 2002
Previous work experience:
Managerial positions in IT companies, e.g. as 
CEO of Stonesoft Inc. in the US, international 
managerial positions at Hewlett-Packard 
Company in Finland, Spain and Singapore
BasWare’s shares: none 
BasWare’s warrants: 3,000

Jari Tavi, born 1963
Senior Vice President, Products & Technology
Engineer
At BasWare since 2002
Previous work experience:
Solid Information Technology, Product Strategy 
Director
Ztango.com Ltd., CTO
BasWare’s shares: none
BasWare’s warrants: 9,000

Esa Tihilä, born 1964
Senior Vice President, Global Sales
College Graduate (Econ)
At BasWare since 2004
Previous work experience:
Managerial positions in the IT industry, e.g. as 
CEO of Meridea Financial Software, as Group 
Executive Director at ICL Europe and as Global 
Director of e-Business at ICL PLC
BasWare’s shares: none
BasWare’s warrants: none

The number of shares includes also the hold-
ings of organizations under control and those 
of children under guardianship.
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Net sales

BasWare Group’s (later referred to as the 
Company) net sales grew by 27.5 percent 
(26.3%) during the fi nancial year and were 
EUR 32,640 thousand (EUR 25,597 thousand). 
The growth of net sales was completely organic. 
The parent company’s net sales grew by 
25.8 percent (11.1%) and were EUR 23,588 thou-
sand (EUR 18,757 thousand).

In the fi nancial year, 38.3 percent (43.5%) of 
net sales consisted of own software product 
sales and 20.1 percent (18.2%) of product re-
lated maintenance revenue. Product sales 
grew by 12.1 percent (13.2%) and maintenance 
revenue by 40.6 percent (47.3%) compared 
with the previous fi nancial year. Services relat-
ed revenue grew by 38.7 percent (35.0%) and 
represented 41.6 percent (38.3%) of net sales.

The international share of the Company’s net 
sales was 43.3 percent (42.0%) in the fi nancial 
year. International business operations grew by 
31.4 percent (63.6%). Domestic operations 
grew by 24.7 percent (8.4%).

In the fi nancial year the Company’s Electronic 
Business operations grew by 27.7 percent 
(25.8%) and business operations represent 
82.7 percent (82.6%) of net sales. The interna-
tional share of electronic business operations 
was 52.1 percent (50.7%).

The Financial Management operations grew by 
26.7 percent (29.1%) and represented 17.3 per-
cent (17.4%) of net sales in the fi nancial year. 
Business operations during the period were still 
almost wholly domestic.

Financial Statements

Board of Directors’ Report January 1–December 31, 2004

Summary of the fi nancial year 2004:

• Net sales EUR 32,640 thousand – growth by 27.5%
• Operating profi t EUR 4,663 thousand – growth by 311.4%
• Operating profi t 14.3% of net sales (4.4%) 
• International business operations grew by 31.4% (63.6%)
• Share of international operations of net sales 43.3% (42.0%)
• Earnings per share EUR 0.33 (EUR 0.07)
• Board’s dividend proposal EUR 0.12 per share (EUR 0.12)

Numbers are compared with those of the fi nancial year 2003.

The Company changed its revenue recognition 
principle at the start of 2004 in transition to 
the IFRS. With the earlier practice, the net sales 
of the fi nancial year would have been EUR 
33,053 thousand, growth of net sales 29.1 per-
cent and growth of product sales 15.9 percent.

Financial performance

In 2004 BasWare Group’s operating profi t grew 
by 311.4 percent (-17.3%) and were EUR 4,663 
thousand (EUR 1,133 thousand). Operating profi t 
represented 14.3 percent (4.4%) of net sales. 
The parent company’s operating profi t grew 
by 165.8 percent (-6.4%) and was EUR 7,586 
thousand (EUR 2,853 thousand).

The Company’s fi xed costs were EUR 24,703 
thousand (EUR 21,291 thousand). The growth 
compared with the previous year was 16.0 per-
cent (23.4%). The accounting principle regard-
ing product development costs was changed at 
the start of 2004 to comply with the IFRS 
practice. During the fi nancial year, EUR 1,062 
thousand of development costs have been capi-
talized. Before 2004 all product development 
costs were recognized as expenses.

The Company’s profi t before extraordinary 
items and taxes was EUR 4,526 thousand 
(EUR 1,031 thousand). The profi t for the fi nan-
cial period grew by 397.1 percent (-36.4%) and 
was EUR 2,801 thousand (EUR 564 thousand). 
The parent company’s profi t for the period grew 
by 180.5 percent (-16.5%) and was EUR 5,196 
thousand (EUR 1,852 thousand).

The Company’s earnings per share were 
EUR 0.33 (EUR 0.07).
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Financial Statements

Financing and investments

BasWare Group’s total assets of the balance 
sheet at the end of the fi nancial period were 
EUR 20,779 thousand (EUR 16,003 thousand). 
The Company has changed its accounting prin-
ciple regarding capital lease contracts to com-
ply with the IFRS practice. Capital lease con-
tracts have been booked in fi xed assets of the 
balance sheet. As a result, the total assets of 
the balance sheet have grown by EUR 77 thou-
sand during the fi nancial year.

The Company’s cash and bank balances grew by 
59.4 percent (43.1%) during the fi nancial year 
and were EUR 5,789 thousand (EUR 3,633 thou-
sand). Cash fl ows from operating activities were 
EUR 5,015 thousand (EUR -108 thousand) 
during the year.

Equity ratio was 58.6 percent (63.0%) in the 
end of the fi nancial year and gearing was –34.0 
percent (–15.4%). The Company had a total of 
EUR 1,645 thousand (EUR 2,075 thousand) in-
terest-bearing liabilities, of which current liabili-
ties accounted for EUR 510 thousand (EUR 505 
thousand).

The Company’s capital expenditure in the fi nan-
cial period was EUR 626 thousand (EUR 489 
thousand). This consisted of regular new and 
replacement investments resulting from 
growth.

Research and development

BasWare’s research and development costs 
grew by 11.9 percent (16.4%) in the fi nancial 
year and were EUR 4,604 (EUR 4,113 thousand). 
The costs made up 14.1 percent (16.1%) of net 
sales.

The accounting principle regarding product 
development costs was changed at the start of 
2004 to comply with the IFRS practice. During 
the fi nancial year, EUR 1,062 thousand of prod-
uct costs were capitalized. Before 2004 all 
product development costs were recognized as 
expenses.

The Company’s research and development work 
has two main goals: development related to 
new products and versions as well as long-term 
development of the technological platform. A 
project to develop the techology platform which 
was supported by Tekes, The National Technol-
ogy Agency of Finland, in 2003, was completed 
in 2004. In June 2004, Tekes resolved to award 
a EUR 48 thousand new product development 
grant as a part of the Software Engineering and 
Tools (SWENG) technology program. The grant 
is used to develop the Company’s testing and 
component practices.

The Company employed 65 (59) persons in the 
research and development at the year-end 
which makes 21.5 percent (23.2%) of the whole 
personnel. R & D was wholly centralized in Fin-
land in the beginning of 2004. At the same 
time, the unit was reorganized to a project 
oriented structure instead of the previous pr   o d -
uct oriented organizational structure.

Personnel

During the fi nancial year the number of em-
ployees of the BasWare Group was 280 (256) 
on average and in year-end 302 (254). The 
number of personnel grew by 18.9 percent 
(4.1%) compared with the end of the previous 
year. The growth was strongest among sales 
personnel. 

Altogether 31.5 percent (29.1%) of personnel 
worked outside of Finland in year-end. The 
growth of the personnel was strongest in the 
subsidiaries in Germany and the United States. 
The departure turnover of personnel during 
the fi nancial period was 10.6 percent (17.2%).

BasWare’s human resources operations are 
guided by the HR strategy, which was approved 
in December 2003. The implementation of the 
strategy began in 2004. For incentive purposes, 
the Company has a bonus program that covers 
the whole personnel as well as two warrant 
programs. 

Business operations

Internationalization and 
distribution network

The international share of BasWare’s net sales 
during the fi nancial year was 43.3 percent 
(42.0%) and international operations grew by 
31.4 percent (63.6%). In the beginning of 2004 
a subsidiary was founded in France to replace 
the previous sales offi ce. In addition, the Com-
pany has subsidiaries in Sweden, Denmark, 
Germany, The Netherlands, United Kingdom 
and United States. The Company launched mar-
ket operations in Canada, Estonia and Russia 
during 2004. In the end of the fi nancial period 
the Company had software installations in 
21 countries.

BasWare’s international operations currently 
base on the Electronic Business products. In 
2004 the Company prepared for the interna-
tionalization of Financial Management and re-
solved to begin the expansion in the beginning 
of 2005 to other Nordic countries which ac-
cording to market researches demonstrate 
clear market potential for fi nancial manage-
ment solutions. Marketing and sales activities 
will be started in Sweden and later in the year 
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in Denmark through the Company’s own sub-
sidiaries and in Norway through a partner. 

According to its Channel strategy, the Company 
aims to build a strong partner network to sup-
port its own sales channel. This is done to en-
sure extensive market coverage and distribu-
tion channel for products. The Company’s 
subsidiaries in Germany, The Netherlands, 
France and United Kingdom have channel sales 
units in order to support the existing partners 
and further develop the indirect sales channel. 
The goal is to fi nd several strong partners for 
each market area that in addition to sales can 
account for the installation and support ser-
vices needed for their customers. In the home 
markets in Finland, Sweden and Denmark mar-
keting and sales will mainly continue to be 
conducted by the own organization.

BasWare signed two new partner agreements 
during the year. The agreements with Perfect 
Extensions B.V. in The Netherlands and Canon 
Australia in Australia and New Zealand cover 
the sales of Electronic Business products as 
well as installation and support services. In Nor-
way, the partner agreement with Iocore AS was 
extended from Electronic Business products to 
cover also the Financial Management products.

The most extensive partner agreement is signed 
with Xerox that sells BasWare’s Electronic 
Business products through its subsidiaries in 
12 European countries. Altogether the Company 
has 11 Value Added Resellers operating in 16 
countries. The reseller partners provided a net 
share of 10.6 percent of the product sales in 
2004.

Electronic Business operations

The BasWare Electronic Business operations 
grew by 27.7 percent (25.8%) during the fi nan-
cial period and were EUR 26,998 thousand. 
Domestic operations’ share was 47.9 percent 
(49.4%) and international operations made 
up 52.1 percent (50.6%) of net sales. Domestic 
operations grew by 23.9 percent (1.9%) and 
international operations by 31.4 percent 
(63.0%). Electronic Business product sales 
grew by 13.4 percent (4.2%) and service rev-
enue by 35.9 percent (46.3%).

The Electronic Business unit in Finland exceed-
ed its net sales target in 2004. Scandinavian 
units (Sweden, Denmark, Norway) were slightly 
behind their net sales target because of the 
performance of the Danish unit. The net sales 
grew by 6.6 percent in Scandinavia. The net 
sales of the European units (The Netherlands, 
Germany, United Kingdom, France) grew by 
45.1 percent but were slightly behind the target. 
The Dutch unit succeeded very well in its oper-
ations whereas especially the German unit did 

not reach its objectives. The areas outside of 
Europe (The United States, Australia) reached 
their target and their net sales grew by 
789.8 percent. 

In the end of summer, measures were taken re-
garding the units with the weakest performance 
(Germany, Denmark). The units’ marketing and 
sales activities were strengthened and new 
country managers were recruited. 

In 2004, the Electronic Business’ product port-
folio based on the “From Need to Payment” 
concept for the purchase to pay process was 
launched in all market areas. The product port-
folio includes BasWare Invoice Processing that 
can be completed with value-added products 
Recurring Invoice Matching and Order Matching 
to automate the processing, as well as BasWare 
Purchase Management. In addition, BasWare 
Document Archiving and BasWare Business 
Transactions, the electronic invoicing service 
currently available in the Nordic countries, are 
included in the product portfolio. During the 
second half of the year, a new value-added 
product BasWare Supplier Portal was launched. 
It integrates the customers using BasWare’s 
solutions with its selected suppliers and other 
partners. 

The demand for the Invoice Processing solution 
and for the more extensive invoice automation 
solution was strong during the whole fi nancial 
period. Especially large enterprises that are 
centralizing their fi nancial operations into 
shared service centers (SSCs) were interested 
in BasWare’s invoice automation solution. 
New SSC customers include, for example, 
Metso in North America and Stora Enso, Elisa 
Corporation and the S Group in Finland.
 
In 2004, BasWare also made the fi rst agree-
ments where the customers were delivered the 
entire solution based on the “From Need to 
Payment” concept. For example Panasonic 
UK, SITA Netherlands and If P&C Insurance 
Company are new customers of the combined 
purchase management and invoice automation 
solution. The integrated product portfolio has 
given BasWare competitive advantage and 
strengthened its market position during 2004.

Altogether 120 new Invoice Processing and 
Purchase Management agreements were signed 
in 12 countries in 2004. Signifi cant development 
steps were taken in the newest market areas 
where large local customers such as American 
Eagle Outfi tters in the United States and 
Renault Administrative Center in France were 
acquired as new customers.

The electronic invoice volumes of the BasWare 
Business Transactions service grew signifi cantly 
during 2004. The transaction volume of the 
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service was almost 1,400,000 invoices which 
is an increase of 160.6 percent compared with 
2003.

In Finland, new electronic invoicing service 
agreements were signed with 50 organizations. 
The sales of the electronic invoicing solution 
have also started in other Nordic countries. The 
fi rst agreement in Sweden was signed in the 
fi rst quarter of the year and in Iceland in the 
second quarter of the year. According to 
BasWare’s updated strategy, the aim is to de-
velop the electronic invoicing solution so that 
it could be offered internationally to the entire 
BasWare customer base. 

Financial Management operations

The Company’s Financial Management oper-
ations grew by 26.7 percent (29.1%) and were 
EUR 5,643 thousand during the fi nancial year 
2004. The product license sales grew by 5.2 
percent (117.4%) and service revenue grew by 
53.2 percent (-3.6%). The products were only 
marketed in Finland: international share of 
net sales was 1.0 percent.

The main products of Financial Management 
include the BasWare Group Consolidation and 
BasWare Business Planning software. The group 
consolidation software can be combined with 
readymade IFRS consolidation models that take 
into account both the Finnish and international 
accounting standards and with the Cash Flow 
application launched in the beginning of 2004. 
The software and value-added products based 
on the accounting expertise form a complete 
solution that maintained strong competitive-
ness in 2004 compared with the traditional 
group consolidation software offered by the 
competitors. 

BasWare’s new IFRS Model customers of stock-
listed companies that are obliged to start re-
porting according to IFRS in 2005 include Efore 
Plc, Citycon Oyj, Fiskars Corp. and Perlos Corp., 
among others. The demand of the solution has, 
however, also expanded into companies that are 
not obliged to report according to IFRS. For ex-
ample, GNT Finland Oy, Oy Karl Fazer Ab, Setec 
Oy and Finland Post Corp., have purchased 
BasWare IFRS models.

The demand for the planning and budgeting 
solution remained also strong throughout the 
fi nancial year. New BasWare Business Planning 
customers in 2004 include Spar Finland plc, 
Otava Books and Magazines Group, the Finnish 
Police, Senate Properties, and the City of 
Helsinki with which a frame agreement was 
signed to cover the fi nancial planning of all 
units using BasWare’s solution.

A total of 43 new agreements were signed in 
the Financial Management unit during 2004. 
Over a half of the agreements included 
BasWare IFRS models, BasWare Cash Flow 
or both value-added products.

Other events of the fi nancial period 

BasWare Corporation’s Annual General Meeting 
(AGM) on February 24, 2004 adopted the Finan-
cial Statements of 2003 and discharged the 
members of the Board of Directors and the CEO 
from liability. The AGM resolved, according to 
the Board’s proposition, to distribute a dividend 
of EUR 0.12 per share, a total of EUR 1,026,072 
for 2003. The AGM also resolved to continue 
the Board of Director’s authorization to in-
crease the share capital by issuing new shares 
and/or convertible bonds and/or warrants. 

In March 2004, the company received the 
Internationalization Award of the President of 
the Republic of Finland as recognition of the 
successful achievements in international busi-
ness operations.

BasWare’s strategy was updated in the strategy 
process conducted during the spring and sum-
mer. The renewed strategy for 2004–2007 was 
approved by the Board of Directors on August 
17, 2004. Strategic objectives remained the 
same as before: by 2007, the Company aims at 
a 40 percent annual growth in net sales and a 
15 percent operating profi t margin. The growth 
is to be mainly organic and it can be supported 
by acquisitions extending the international 
sales channel and/or product portfolio. In order 
to accelerate the growth, emphasis on the mar-
kets in the United States, Germany and United 
Kingdom was increased in the turn of 2004–
2005 by strengthening for example the market-
ing and sales organizations of the subsidiaries.

BasWare transferred from the NM List of the 
Helsinki Stock Exchange to the Main List in 
October 2004. Trading of the BasWare share 
on the Main List commenced on October 19, 
2004. In connection with the change of the list, 
the possibility of a share issue was reviewed but 
the project was not realized during fall 2004. 

As a part of its corporate responsibility pro-
gram, the Company continued the cooperation 
with Plan Finland initiated in 2002. The Com-
pany sponsors the living conditions and educa-
tion of 12 children in developing countries. The 
Company also made a donation to the Plan 
catastrophe fund that helps the children affect-
ed by the tsunami wave in Asia.

The Company applies the Guidelines for 
Insiders issued by the Board of Directors of the 
Helsinki Stock Exchange as well as the Recom-
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mendation on Corporate Governance with the 
exceptions mentioned in the Company’s Corpo-
rate Governance Statement. The statement can 
be found in the Investors section of the Compa-
ny’s website.

Management and auditor

On February 24, 2004 the Annual General 
Meeting elected Kirsi Eräkangas, Sakari 
Perttunen, Antti Pöllänen, Ilkka Sihvo and 
Hannu Vaajoensuu to continue as members of 
the Board of Directors of BasWare Corp. In addi-
tion, Esa Korvenmaa and Ossi Pohjola were 
elected as new members of the Board. The 
Board elected Ilkka Sihvo to act as Chairman 
of the Board. 

The CEO of the Company was Hannu 
Vaajoensuu in 2004.

In October 2004, the Board elected Ilkka Sihvo 
as the new CEO as of January 1, 2005. Sihvo 
acted as the Chairman of the Board and Presi-
dent of the Company until the end of 2004 with 
operative responsibility of the Company’s fi -
nance as well as Scandinavian operations. Sihvo 
resigned from the Board as of January 1, 2005. 
The Board appointed Hannu Vaajoensuu, who 
acted as the CEO until the end of 2004, as the 
new Chairman of the Board. Vaajoensuu’s tasks 
include also the Company’s strategic projects 
such as company acquisitions, strategic part-
nerships and new business operations.

The Company’s auditor has been Pricewater-
houseCoopers Oy, Authorized Public Account-
ants, with APA Juha Väisänen in charge.

Share and share capital

During 2004, BasWare’s share capital was in-
creased by EUR 17,010 due to the share sub-
scriptions based on warrants. The increase in 
share capital was entered in the Finnish Trade 
Register on October 28, 2004. The Company’s 
share capital on December 31, 2004 was EUR 
2,582,190 and the number of shares 8,607,300. 

The Company has two warrant programs which 
give the right to subscribe for a maximum of 
631,000 new shares. Based on the subscriptions 
the share capital can be increased by a maxi-
mum of EUR 189,300. The subscription periods 
for shares in the warrant program Finland I 
started gradually on October 1, 2001; October 1, 
2002; October 1, 2003 and October 1, 2004. In 
the warrant program Finland II the subscription 
periods begin gradually on July 1, 2003; July 1, 
2004 and July 1, 2005. A total of 56,700 share 
subscriptions based on the warrants have been 
accepted by the Board by the end of 2004.

According to the resolution of the Annual 
General Meeting, the Company’s Board of 
Director’s authorization for an issue is valid 
until February 24, 2005. The share capital may 
be increased with maximum EUR 513,036 and 
1,710,120 new shares based on the authoriza-
tion. The Company does not own its own 
shares, and the Board of Directors does not 
have an authorization to purchase BasWare’s 
shares.

In the end of 2004 the Company had 24,103 
shareholders (26,358 in the end of 2003). 
During the fi nancial period there were no 
notices of change in ownership. 

During the fi nancial period the highest price 
of the Company’s share on the Helsinki Stock 
Exchange was EUR 10.10 (EUR 6.42) and the 
lowest price EUR 6.10 (EUR 3.63). The average 
price of the share was EUR 7.83 (EUR 4.83). On 
the last day of trading on December 30, 2004 
the closing rate was EUR 7.78 (EUR 6.10 in 
2003). Market capitalization with the closing 
price was EUR 66,964,794 (EUR 52,158,660). 
A total of 1,981,098 (658,514) shares were 
traded during the fi nancial period which is the 
equivalent of 23.1 percent (7.7%) of the average 
number of shares.

IFRS reporting

BasWare will publish its interim reports and 
Financial Statements for the fi nancial year 
2005 in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). During 
the fi nancial period of 2004, in addition to the 
accounting according to Finnish Accounting 
Standards, the Company has been conducting 
simultaneous accounting according to IFRS to 
prepare the comparison data for 2005. The 
comparison data for the three fi rst quarters 
of 2004 was published in December 2004 and 
data for the whole year will be published in 
March 2005.

At BasWare, the most signifi cant effects of the 
transition to IFRS relate to revenue recognition, 
capitalization of certain product development 
costs as well as treatment of capital lease con-
tracts and goodwill. The company has changed 
its accounting principles in the fi rst three 
named areas already in 2004 as the changes 
also were possible under the Finnish Account-
ing Standards.

According to the earlier revenue recognition 
principle the net sales for the fi nancial period 
of 2004 would have been EUR 33,053 or 1.2 
percent higher than according to the current 
standards. EUR 1,062 thousand of research and 
development costs were capitalized in 2004. 
Total assets of the balance sheet grew by EUR 
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77 thousand during the fi nancial period when 
capital lease contracts were booked in the fi xed 
assets of the balance sheet. The change in 
accounting principle regarding goodwill in the 
beginning of 2005 has a positive effect on 
BasWare’s operating profi t; in 2004 the ceased 
goodwill amortizations increase the operating 
profi t according to IFRS with EUR 240 thou-
sand.

Future outlook

The economic situation has improved to some 
extent in the end of 2004 which can also be ob-
served in the slight revival of software market. 
BasWare’s solutions provide savings to custom-
ers and thus, the demand for the solutions has 
not been strongly dependent on the prevailing 
economic trend. Also the new regulations on 
fi nancial reporting and corporate governance 
may strengthen the demand for the Company’s 
products. According to several research insti-
tutes, the market for the Company’s products 
is growing faster than the general economic 
growth. 

The competitiveness of BasWare’s software is 
still good and positively infl uenced by the ex-
pansion of the product portfolio and the solu-
tion concept that the products form together. 
Although no substantial changes in the com-
petitive situation have occurred, increasing 
local competition can be observed in some 
market areas especially regarding small and 
medium-sized organizations acquiring invoice 
processing solutions.

In 2005 the Company aims to continue its 
growth which is based on continuous invest-
ments in sales and marketing activities. The in-
vestments will mainly focus on existing market 
areas. In the turn of 2004–2005, the Company’s 
sales and marketing organization was more 
than doubled in the strategic markets of the 
United States, Germany and United Kingdom. 

The development of the indirect sales channel 
will continue in Europe and channel operations 
will also be launched in the North American 
market. In addition to the partners’ channel ac-
tivities, new business will be generated through 
Purchase Management and value-added prod-
ucts. The international launch of these products 
was fi nalized during 2004.

BasWare will also start reviewing possible ac-
quisitions targets in the Nordic countries. With 
the acquisitions, the Company can extend the 
international sales channel and product port-
folio. They may also strengthen the Company’s 
position in the Nordic electronic invoicing 
market.

The marketing and sales activities for Financial 
Management’s products were started in Sweden 
and Norway in the beginning of 2005 in order 
to assure the growth of the business oper-
ations. The domestic growth of Electronic Busi-
ness and Financial Management which is based 
on the development of services and new prod-
ucts is slower than that of the international 
operations but still faster than in the Finnish 
software markets in general. 

BasWare expects that the organic growth of net 
sales will be over 20 percent in 2005. Operating 
profi t is expected to be greater than in the pre-
vious year, i.e. EUR 4,663 thousand. The operat-
ing profi t for the fi rst quarter of the year is ex-
pected to be lower than that of the same period 
last year since the investments in sales made in 
the end of 2004 elevate the cost level.

Board’s dividend proposal

The Group’s distributable funds according to 
the balance sheet are EUR 3,589,879.11 and 
the parent company’s distributable funds are 
EUR 9,957,834.00.

BasWare’s Board of Directors proposes to the 
Annual General Meeting that from the fi nancial 
year 2004, a dividend of EUR 0.12 per share be 
paid.

In Espoo, Finland, January 18, 2005

Board of Directors of BasWare Corporation

Hannu Vaajoensuu, Chairman of the Board
Kirsi Eräkangas 
Esa Korvenmaa 
Sakari Perttunen 
Ossi Pohjola
Antti Pöllänen

Ilkka Sihvo, CEO
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  Group Parent company 
EUR thousand  1.1.–31.12.2004 1.1.–31.12.2003 1.1.–31.12.2004  1.1.–31.12.2003

     
Net sales 1 32,640 25,597 23,588 18,757
     
Other operating income 2 89 212 39 181
     
Materials and services 3 2,391 2,414 817 894
Personnel expenses 4 16,478 14,322 10,249 9,102
Depreciations and write-offs 5 973 970 528 582
Other operating expenses  8,225 6,969 4,448 5,507
     
Operating profi t  4,663 1,133 7,586 2,853
     
Financial income and expenses 6 -137 -103 -146 -234
     
Profi t before taxes  4,526 1,031 7,440 2,620
     
Direct taxes 7 1,725 467 2,244 768
     
Profi t for the period  2,801 564 5,196 1,852

Income Statement
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    Group Parent company 
EUR thousand  31.12.2004 31.12.2003 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

     
Assets     
     
Fixed assets    
     
Intangible assets 8    
 Intangible rights  1,763 669 1,680 625
 Goodwill  753 986  
Tangible assets 9 695 756 415 453
Investments 10    
 Shares in subsidiaries    421 384
 Shares in participating interests  3 3 3 3
 Other receivables    9,320 7,180 
    3,213 2,413 11,839 8,645
     
Current assets     
     
Inventories 11 32 1 32 1
Long-term receivables 12 838 301  
Short-term receivables 13 10,907 9,655 10,165 8,719
Cash and bank balances  5,789 3,633 3,581 2,750
    17,566 13,590 13,778 11,470
     
Total assets  20,779 16,003 25,618 20,116
     
     
Equity and liabilities     
     
Capital and reserves      14    
     
Share capital  2,582 2,565 2,582 2,565
Share premium account  6,000 5,712 6,000 5,712
Retained earnings  789 1,247 4,762 3,936
Profi t for the fi nancial period  2,801 564 5,196 1,852
    12,172 10,088 18,540 14,065
     
Liabilities     
     
Long-term liabilities 15 1,136 1,570 1,277 1,747
Current liabilities 16 7,471 4,345 5,801 4,304
    8,607 5,915 7,078 6,050
     
Total equity and liabilities  20,779 16,003 25,618 20,116

Balance Sheet

Financial Statements
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  Group Parent company 
EUR thousand  1.1.–31.12.2004 1.1.–31.12.2003 1.1.–31.12.2004 1.1.–31.12.2003

    
Cash fl ows from operating activities    
    
Profi t for the period 2,801 564 5,196 1,852
Adjustments for profi t  2,796 1,479 2,882 1,523
Working capital changes  920 -1,560 -781 -1,212
Cash fl ows from operating activities 
before fi nancial items and taxes  6,517 483 7,297 2,163
    
Interest paid  -71 -29 -70 27
Interest received  49 12 83 13
Other fi nancial items in operating activities  -115 -74 -114 -73
Income taxes paid  -1,366 -500 -1,364 -500
Net cash from operating activities  5,015 -108 5,833 1,630
    
Cash fl ows from investing activities    
    
Purchase of tangible and 
intangible assets  -1,660 -382 -1,551 -215
Proceeds from sale of tangible and 
intangible assets  69 219 58 219
Interest paid  -1   
Acquisition of subsidiares    -37 -50
Long-term loans granted    -2,245 -2,292
Net cash used in investing activities  -1,592 -163 -3,774 -2,337
    
Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities    
    
Proceeds from used employee warrants  305  305 
Proceeds from long-term borrowings   2,000  2,177
Repayments of long-term borrowings  -507 -207 -507 -207
Repayments of fi nancial lease borrowings  -39   
Dividends paid  -1,026 -428 -1,026 -428
Net cash used in fi nancing activities  -1,267 1,366 -1,228 1,543
    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  2,156 1,094 830 835
    
Cash and cash equivalents 
at beginning of period  3,633 2,538 2,750 1,915
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period  5,789 3,633 3,581 2,750
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  2,156 1,094 830 835
    

Cash Flow Statement

Financial Statements
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NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT    
EUR thousand    
    
1 Net sales 
 Group Parent company 
 2004 2003 2004 2003

Net sales by business operation    
    
Product sales and maintenance 19,045 15,797 15,090 12,620
Services 13,595 9,800 8,498 6,137
Total 32,640 25,597 23,588 18,757
    
Net sales by business area    
    
Electronic Business 26,998 21,142 17,946 14,302
Financial Management 5,643 4,455 5,643 4,455
Total 32,640 25,597 23,588 18,757
    
Net sales by market area    
    
Domestic (Finland) 18,515 14,847 18,515 14,985
Foreign (other countries) 14,125 10,750 5,073 3,772
Total 32,640 25,597 23,588 18,757
    
2 Other operating income

Gain on sale of non-current assets 43 61 39 61
Grants  120  120
Other 46 31  
Total 89 212 39 181
    
3 Materials and services

Purchases during the fi nancial period 1,074 907 392 217
Change in stock -31 2 -31 2
Services purchased 1,348 1,506 455 675
Total 2,391 2,414 817 894

4 Notes to personnel and 
 corporate governance 

Personnel expenses    
    
Salaries paid to CEO and the Board of Directors 1,101 1,006 416 371
Salaries paid to other personnel 12,407 10,396 8,066 6,960
Pension expenses 1,679 1,461 1,306 1,137
Other personnel expenses 1,291 1,460 461 633
Total 16,478 14,322 10,249 9,102

 

  

  
 

Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
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 Group Parent company 
 2004 2003 2004 2003

Number of personnel   
    
Personnel average for the period 280 256 196 178
Personnel at the end of the period 302 254 207 180
    
The pension arrangements of the CEO and the Board of Directors comply with the local rules. In addition, one 
member of the Board has a voluntary pension insurance that defi nes the retirement age for 58 years.   
 
5 Depreciation and write-offs

Intangible assets 530 472 254 224
Tangible assets 443 498 274 358
Total 973 970 528 582
    
6 Financial income and expenses 

Interest and other fi nancial income 49 13 144 73
Interest and other fi nancial expenses 186 115 290 306
Total -137 -103 -146 -234
    
7 Direct taxes
    
Income taxes on the fi nancial period    
   Income taxes on actual business 2,229 768 2,199 768
   Change in deferred tax receivables 550 301  
Income taxes from previous fi nancial periods 45  45 
Total 1,725 467 2,244 768
    
NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET
EUR thousand    
    
8 Intangible assets 

Intangible rights    
    
Book value 1.1. 1,207 1,129 1,144 1,085
Increase for the fi nancial period 1,385 86 1,310 59
Transfer between items  19  
Book value 31.12. 2,592 1,197 2,454 1,144
    
Accumulated depreciation 1.1. 538 297 519 301
Depreciation for the fi nancial period 291 231 254 218
Accumulated depreciation 31.12. 829 528 774 519
    
Balance sheet value 31.12. 1,763 669 1,680 625
    
Goodwill   
    
Book value 1.1. 1,464 1,467  29
Book value 31.12. 1,464 1,467  29

Accumulated depreciation 1.1. 467 240  22
Depreciation for the fi nancial period 244 241  6
Accumulated depreciation 31.12. 711 481  29

Balance sheet value 31.12. 753 986  0
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 Group Parent company 
 2004 2003 2004 2003

9 Tangible assets   
    
Book value 1.1. 2,577 2,440 2,019 2,021
Increase for the fi nancial period 410 296 260 155
Decrease for the fi nancial period 38 158 108 158
Book value 31.12. 2,949 2,578 2,171 2,019
    
Accumulated depreciation 1.1. 1,822 1,324 1,566 1,208
Depreciation for the fi nancial period 433 498 190 358
Accumulated depreciation 31.12. 2,255 1,822 1,755 1,566
    
Balance sheet value 31.12. 695 756 415 453
    
Total fi xed assets 3,210 2,410 2,096 1,078
    
10 Investments
    
Shares in group companies    
    
Book value 1.1.   384 335
Increase for the fi nancial period   37 50
Book value 31.12.   421 384
    
Shares in affi liated companies    
    
Book value 1.1. 3 3 3 3
Book value 31.12. 3 3 3 3
    
Other receivables  
    
Receivables from group companies   9,320 7,180

Shares in subsidiaries    
     
 Group holding, % Parent company holding, %  
NextWare Oy, Espoo 100.0  100.0  
BasWare GmbH, Düsseldorf 100.0  100.0  
BasWare UK Ltd., Guildford 100.0  100.0  
BasWare AB, Tukholma 100.0  100.0  
BasWare B.V., Amsterdam 100.0  100.0  
BasWare A/S, Fredensborg 100.0  100.0  
BasWare, Inc., Boston 100.0  100.0  
BasWare SAS, Paris 100.0  100.0
    
Shares in associated companies    
     
 Group holding, % Parent company holding, %  
Agentum Technologies Oy Inc., Turku 19.3  19.3
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 Group Parent company 
 2004 2003 2004 2003

11 Inventories   
    
Raw materials and consumables 32 1 32 1
Total 32 1 32 1
    
12 Long-term receivables    
    
Deferred tax receivables 829 301  
Receivables from others 9   
Total 838 301 
    
13 Short-term receivables    
    
Accounts receivable 9,272 8,323 4,956 4,215
Accounts receivable from group companies   4,588 3,873
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 678 546 446 571
Other receivables 256 101 175 61
Deferred tax receivables 701 685  
Total 10,907 9,655 10,165 8,719
    
14  Shareholders’ equity 
    
Share capital 1.1. 2,565 257 2,565 257
Increase for the fi nancial period 17 2,309 17 2,309
Share capital 31.12. 2,582 2,565 2,582 2,565
    
Share premium account 1.1. 5,712 8,021 5,712 8,021
Increase for the fi nancial period 288  288 
Decrease for the fi nancial period  2,309  2,309
Share premium account 31.12. 6,000 5,712 6,000 5,712
    
Retained earnings 1.1. 1,811 1,675 5,788 4,363
Dividend payment -1,026 -428 -1,026 -428
Translation difference change 4   
Profi t for the period 2,801 564 5,196 1,852
Retained earnings 31.12. 3,590 1,811 9,958 5,788
    
Shareholders’ equity 31.12. 12,172 10,088 18,540 14,065
    
Specifi cation of distributable funds    
    
Profi t for the period 2,801 564 5,196 1,852
Retained earnings 789 1,247 4,762 3,936
Distributable funds 3,590 1,811 9,958 5,788

15 Long-term liabilities 
    
Long-term debts 1,136 1,570 1,100 1,570
Long-term debts to group companies   177 177
Total 1,136 1,570 1,277 1,747

Financial Statements
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 Group Parent company 
 2004 2003 2004 2003

16 Short-term liabilities 
    
Accounts payable 889 620 330 139
Accounts payable to group companies   47 1,384
Other debts 1,583 1,339 1,026 830
Amortization of long-term debts 468 505 468 505
Accrued expenses and deferred income 4,530 1,882 3,930 1,446
Total 7,471 4,345 5,801 4,304
    
17 Provided pledges, contractual 
 liabilities and other liabilities
    
Guarantees on behalf of subsidiaries 652 81 652 81
    
Other contingent liabilities    
    
Leasing commitments    
 To be paid during the next fi nancial period 359 656 150 183
 To be paid during the following 
 fi nancial periods 437 698 226 132
Other rent commitments    
 To be paid during the next fi nancial period 1,101 831 814 797
 To be paid during the following 
 fi nancial periods 2,288 2,523 1,744 2,488
    
Check account credit line 1,000 (unused)    
 Floating charge given as collateral    
    
The group does not have pledges, mortgages or guarantees on behalf of external parties.    
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Financial Statements

BasWare Group’s fi nancial statements for the 
fi nancial year 2004 have been prepared ac-
cording to the Finnish Accounting Act. The 
Group will start reporting according to Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
of January 1, 2005.

Principles of consolidation
Group fi nancial statements include the fi nancial 
statements of BasWare Corporation (the parent 
company) and its subsidiaries NextWare Oy, 
BasWare AB, BasWare GmbH, BasWare B.V., 
BasWare UK Ltd., BasWare A/S, BasWare, Inc. 
and BasWare SAS.

Financial statements of the foreign subsidiaries 
have been changed to correspond to the 
Group’s accounting principles. The Group’s fi -
nancial statements were prepared using the ac-
quisition cost method. Transactions, receivables 
and debts within the group have been eliminat-
ed. The income statements of foreign subsi-
diaries are translated at the average exchange 
rate for the accounting period, and the balance 
sheets at the closing rate on the balance sheet 
date.

Transactions in foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded 
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates 
of the individual transactions. At the end of the 
accounting period, the unsettled balances on 
foreign currency receivables and liabilities are 
valued at the rates of exchange prevailing at 
the end of the accounting period. Foreign ex-
change differences for operating business items 
are entered in the appropriate income state-
ment account before operating profi t, and, for 
fi nancial assets and liabilities, are entered as 
a net amount in the fi nancial items of the 
income statement.

Revenue recognition
The sale of llicenses is recognized in phases 
with relation to when the usage rights for the 
software have been granted, installation has 
occurred and the delivery has been accepted. 
The sales are recorded when the sales can be 
defi ned as reliable and the fi nancial impact 
relating to the business operation is expected 
to benefi t the company. Maintenance revenue 
is allocated to a contract period and service 
revenue is recognised at the time of delivery. 

Other operating income
Other operating income includes proceeds from 
the sale of fi xed assets and rental revenue.

Research and development
Research expenses are booked as an expense 
as they are incurred. Product development ex-
penses are booked so that development costs 
of totally new products and product versions 

Accounting Principles of the Financial Statements

with signifi cant new features are capitalized 
and amortized. Maintenance of existing prod-
ucts and their minor development are booked 
as an expense as they are incurred. Public sub-
sidies related to capitalized development ex-
penses are deducted from the acquisition cost 
of the asset. Development costs before the 
year 2004 were booked as expenses in the 
year they were incurred.

Pensions
The compulsory pension coverage of personnel 
employed by BasWare Corporation (parent 
company) is provided through insurance poli-
cies taken out with a pension institution. Pen-
sion coverare for personnel employed by units 
outside Finland is arranged in line with the re-
quirements of local legislation and social secu-
rity provisions. Compulsory pension expenses 
are expensed in the year they are incurred.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets include software licenses, 
goodwill and capitalized development expenses. 
The balance sheet value of intangible assets is 
stated at acquisition costs, less accumulated 
depreciation. Public subsidies related to devel-
opment expenses are deducted from the acqui-
sition cost of the asset and recognized as in-
come by reducing the depreciation charge of 
the asset they related to. The useful lives for 
intangible assets are 3 to 6 years.

Tangible assets 
The balance sheet value of tangible assets is 
stated at acquisition costs, less accumulated 
depreciation. The useful lives for tangible as-
sets are 3 to 5 years.

Leases
In group fi nancial statements, the fi nance leases 
are capitalized and booked as liabilities and 
assets for fair value at acquisition date. Assets 
acquired under fi nance leases are depreciated 
and booked as a fi nancial expense. In parent 
company fi nancial statements, the lease pay-
ments are recorded as annual expenses accord-
ing to the Finnish Accounting Act.

Securities, cash and bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, funds 
held on call accounts and marketable securi-
ties. 

Taxation
Income taxes include taxes based on the results 
of the Group companies and are calculated ac-
cording to the local tax rules of each country. 
The requirements of the Finnish Accounting 
Act have been observed in stating deferred 
taxes. The balance sheet includes deferred taxes 
in their entirety and deferred tax assets in the 
estimated probable amount of the tax benefi t.
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 1–3/ 1–3/ 4–6/ 4–6/ 7–9/ 7–9/ 10–12/ 10–12/
EUR thousand 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
    
Net sales 7,128 5,434 8,646 6,546 6,717 5,668 10,150 7,949
        
Other operating income 24 29 38 60 13 70 15 54
        
Materials and services 589 606 593 492 453 559 756 757
Personnel expenses 3,590 3,629 4,380 3,802 3,139 3,015 5,368 3,877
Depreciation and write-offs 248 248 242 246 237 239 247 236
Other operating expenses 1,724 1,988 2,028 1,748 2,017 1,467 2,457 1,765
        
Operating profi t 1,001 -1,009 1,441 317 885 457 1,336 1,368
        
Financial income and expenses -16 -54 -13 -9 -22 -5 -86 -34
        
Profi t (loss) before taxes 985 -1,062 1,428 308 863 452 1,250 1,334
        
Direct taxes 542 -285 523 153 504 308 155 291
        
Profi t (loss) for the period 443 -777 905 154 359 144 1,095 1,043

Group Quarterly Income Statement
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Group Key Financial Performance Indicators

EUR thousand 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Net sales 32,640 25,597 20,263 12,399 7,455
Growth in net sales, % 27.5% 26.3% 63.4% 66.3% 64.4%
Operating profi t 4,663 1,133 1,370 389 1,551
% of net sales 14.3% 4.4% 6.8% 3.1% 20.8%
Profi t before extraordinary items,     
reserves and taxes 4,526 1,031 1,505 611 1,785
% of net sales 13.9% 4.0% 7.4% 4.9% 23.9%
Profi t before taxes 4,526 1,031 1,505 611 1,669
% of net sales 13.9% 4.0% 7.4% 4.9% 22.4%
Profi t for the period 2,801 564 886 337 1,115
     
Return on equity, % 25.2% 5.6% 9.2% 3.4% 19.5%
Return on investment, % 36.3% 10.2% 15.2% 6.1% 28.1%
Liabilities, interest bearing 1,645 2,075 282 321 314
Securities, cash and bank balances 5,789 3,633 2,538 5,293 8,106
Gearing, % -34.0% -15.4% -22.7% -53.3% -75.4%
Equity ratio, % 58.6% 63.0% 74.3% 76.9% 85.9%
Total Assets 20,779 16,003 13,392 13,474 12,036
     
Capital expenditure 626 489 2,163 1,200 1,139
% of net sales 1.9% 1.5% 10.7% 9.7% 15.3%
Gross investments * 1,688 489 2,163 1,200 1,139
% of net sales 5.2% 1.5% 10.7% 9.7% 15.3%
Research and development costs 4,604 4,113 3,535 2,403 1,709
% of net sales 14.1% 16.1% 17.5% 19.4% 22.9%
     
Personnel average for the period 280 256 205 137 81
Personnel at the end of the period 302 254 244 168 101

* includes capitalized development costs since the beginning of 2004

     

Group Share Indicators
     
 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Earnings per share, EUR 0.33 0.07 0.10 0.04 0.14
Earnings per share, EUR (diluted) 0.32 0.07 0.10 0.04 0.14
Equity per share, EUR 1.41 1.18 1.16 1.09 1.21
Dividend per share, EUR 0.12 0.12 0.05 0.04 0.15
Dividend per profi t, % 36.9% 182.1% 48.3% 88.9% 106.8%
Effective dividends, % 1.5% 2.0% 1.1% 0.7% 3.4%
P/E ratio 23.78 92.55 43.44 123.40 31.75
     
Share price performance, 
share issue adjusted     
   lowest share price, EUR 6.10 3.63 3.50 4.30 4.30
   highest share price, EUR 10.10 6.42 6.10 8.20 26.90
   average share price, EUR 7.83 4.83 5.14 5.85 14.66
   closing share price, EUR 7.78 6.10 4.50 4.86 4.55
Market value of shares on 31.12., EUR 66,964,794 52,158,660 38,477,700 41,555,916 38,905,230
     
Number of traded shares 1,981,098 658,514 701,223 1,263,696 3,345,952
% of average share number 23.1% 7.7% 8.2% 14.8% 40.1%
Share issue adjusted average share     
number during the period 8,560,967 8,550,600 8,550,600 8,550,600 8,353,980
Share issue adjusted share number
at the end of the period 8,607,300 8,550,600 8,550,600 8,550,600 8,550,600

Key Indicators

Financial Statements
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Return on equity (ROE), %

Profi t before extraordinary items, reserves and taxes – taxes  
x 100

Shareholders’ equity + minority interest + voluntary provisions and 
depreciation difference less deferred tax liability (average)

Return on investment (ROI), %

Profi t before extraordinary items, reserves and taxes
+ interest and other fi nancial expenses  

x 100
Balance sheet total – non-interest bearing liabilities (average)

Gearing, %

Interest bearing liabilities – cash and bank balances  
x 100

Shareholders’ equity + minority interest + voluntary provisions and 
depreciation difference less deferred tax liability (average)

Equity ratio, %

Shareholders’ equity + minority interest + voluntary provisions 
and depreciation difference less deferred tax liability  

x 100
Balance sheet total – advances received

Earnings per share

Profi t before extraordinary items, reserves and taxes – taxes +/– minority interest
Adjusted number of shares over the fi nancial year (average)

Equity per share

Shareholders’ equity including voluntary provisions and 
depreciation difference less deferred tax liability
Adjusted number of shares at the end of the fi nancial period

Dividend per share

Total dividend
Adjusted number of shares at the end of the fi nancial period

Dividend/profi t, %

Dividend per share 
x 100

Earnings per share

Effective dividend yield, %

Dividend per share  
x 100

Adjusted share price at the end of the fi nancial period

Price-earnings ratio (P/E)

Adjusted share price at the end of the fi nancial period
Earnings per share

Calculation of Key Indicators
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Shares and share capital

BasWare shares have been quoted on the Main 
List of the Helsinki Stock Exchange since Octo-
ber 19, 2004, and previously on the NM List 
since March 1, 2000. The listing price of the 
share was EUR 5.70. The company code on the 
Helsinki Stock Exchange is BAS, and the com-
pany is listed in the Telecommunications and 
Electronics business sector. The company has 
one series of shares and the trading code for 
the share is BAS1V.

At the end of 2004, the total number of shares 
was 8,607,300. The book counter value is EUR 
0.30 per share. All shares carry one vote and 
an equal right to dividend. In 2004, the taxation 
value of the share was EUR 5.46. 

According to the current Articles of Associa-
tion, BasWare’s minimum share capital is EUR 
2,000,000 and its maximum share capital is 
EUR 8,000,000. Within these limits, the share 
capital can be increased or decreased without 
amending the Articles of Association. In the 
beginning of 2004, the share capital was EUR 
2,565,180 and at the end of the year EUR 
2,582,190. During 2004, the share capital was 
increased by EUR 17,010 based on the share 
subscriptions with BasWare warrants. The share 
capital increase was entered in the Finnish 
Trade Register on October 28, 2004.

Share price performance and volume

On the last day of trading in 2004, BasWare’s 
closing rate was EUR 7.78 (EUR 6.10 in 2003). 
Market capitalization with the period’s closing 
price was EUR 66,964,794 (EUR 52,158,660). 

The average price of the share in 2004 was 
EUR 7.83 (EUR 4.83). During 2004 the highest 
price of the share on the Helsinki Stock 
Exchange was EUR 10.10 and the lowest price 
EUR 6.10. 

Share and Shareholders

A total number of 1,981,022 shares were traded 
during 2004 (658,514 in 2003) which is the 
equivalent of 23.1% (7.7%) of the average 
number of shares.

Board’s authorizations

On February 24, 2004, the Annual General 
Meeting authorized the Board of Directors to 
increase the share capital in one or more is-
sues, by issuing new shares and/or convertible 
bonds and/or by warrants, in such a way that 
the new share issues or convertible bonds or 
warrants authorize to subscribe a maximum of 
1,710,120 new shares. According to the authori-
zation, the share capital can be increased with 
a maximum of EUR 513,036 and 1,710,210 new 
shares. The authorization is effective until Feb-
ruary 24, 2005.

BasWare Corporation does not own BasWare 
shares and the Board does not have the author-
ization to purchase BasWare’s shares.

Warrant programs

BasWare has two warrant programs that were 
launched in 2000 and 2002. The programs give 
the rights to the subscription of up to a maxi-
mum of 631,000 new shares. Based on the sub-
scriptions, the share capital can be increased 
by no more than EUR 189,300. 

During 2004, a total of 56,700 shares were 
subscribed with the warrant programs. Corres-
pondingly, BasWare share capital was increased 
by EUR 17,010. After the increase, share capital 
of BasWare Corp. is EUR 2,582,190. The increase 
in share capital was entered in the Finnish 
Trade Register on October 28, 2004 and 
trade with the new shares commenced on the 
Helsinki Stock Exchange on October 29, 2004.
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Warrant Program Finland I 2000–2005

The extraordinary general meeting on February 17, 2000 resolved to issue warrants to BasWare 
Group’s personnel. The number of warrants issued shall be 421,000 and they entitle to subscribe 
a total of 421,000 BasWare Corporation’s shares. With warrants the share capital can be increased 
by no more than EUR 126,300.

The warrants are divided as follows:

  Number Subscription price Subscription period starts Subscription period ends Subscriptions in 2004

Series A 105,000 5.70 1.10.2001 31.10.2005 31,150
Series B 105,000 8.32 1.10.2002 31.10.2005 
Series C 105,000 4.96 1.10.2003 31.10.2005 19,550
Series D 106,000 4.74 1.10.2004 31.10.2005 

Warrant Program Finland II 2002–2006

On July 11, 2002 based on the Annual General Meeting’s authorization, the BasWare Board of Direc-
tors resolved to grant warrants for the employees of BasWare Corporation and its subsidiaries. The 
number of warrants issued shall be 210,000 and they entitle to subscribe a total of 210,000 
BasWare Corporation’s shares. By warrants the share capital can be increased by no more than 
EUR 63,000.

The warrants are divided as follows:

  Number Subscription price Subscription period starts Subscription period ends Subscriptions in 2004

Series A 60,000 5.51 1.7.2003 30.6.2006 3,000
Series B 70,000 4.67 1.7.2004 30.6.2006 
Series C 80,000 6.79 1.7.2005 30.6.2006 3,000
     

Shareholders

At the end of 2004, BasWare had a total of 24,103 shareholders (26,358 at the end of 2003) of 
which four were nominee registered possessions. During 2004, there were no notices of change in 
ownership. The tables below present the distribution of ownership and the largest shareholders. 
The information is based on the shareholders’ register maintained by the Finnish Central Securities 
Depository Ltd.

Distribution of holdings, December 31, 2004
    

Shares and voting rights
Number of shares Holdings number  %  number  
1–100 20,319 5.3 454,004
101–1,000 3,470 12.2 1,052,773
1,001–10,000 287 7.4 636,503
10,001–100,000 13 4.1 356,680
100,001 +  14  71.0  6,107,340
Total 24,103 100 8,607,300

Distribution by sector, December 31, 2004
    

Shares and voting rights
 Holdings number % number 
Private companies 902 8.5 731,949
Financial and insurance institutions 21 1.7 148,855
Public-sector organizations 6 0.7 63,600
Non-profi t organizations 23 0.3 22,265
Households 23,098 85.7 7,373,441
Foreigners  49 0.1  8,250
 24,099 97.0 8,348,360
Nominee registered  4 3.0  258,940
Total 24,103 100 8,607,300
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Major shareholders, December 31, 2004
    

Shares and voting rights
    Number  %

Sihvo Ilkka  1,155,800  13.43
Vaajoensuu Hannu  1,155,800  13.43
   Vaajoensuu Hannu 528,000  6.13 
   Havacment Oy 311,000  3.61 
   Vaajoensuu Sara 105,600  1.23 
   Vaajoensuu Matias 105,600  1.23 
   Vaajoensuu Petra 105,600  1.23 
Pöllänen Antti  1,144,900  13.30
   Pöllänen Antti 684,100  7.95 
   Launimo Essi 460,800  5.35 
Eräkangas Kirsi  1,141,800  13.26
   Eräkangas Kirsi 791,400  9.19 
   Eräkangas Lotta 350,400  4.07 
Perttunen Sakari  830,400  9.65
Perttunen Meimi  325,400  3.78
Sijoitusrahasto Mandatum Suomi kasvuosake  100,300  1.17
Placeringsfonden Aktia Secura  70,000  0.81
Tietoklusteri Oy  55,100  0.64
Oy Fincorp Ab  43,200  0.50
Total of nominee registered  258,940  3.01
Others   2,325,660   27.02
Total  8,607,300  100

Shares and warrants held by the members 
of the Board, December 31, 2004

On December 31, 2004 the members of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Offi cer and the 
companies under their control and under-aged children owned altogether 5,428,700 BasWare’s 
shares which is the equivalent of 63.1 percent of the Company’s shares and votes. In addition, they 
owned 100,670 BasWare warrants which entitle to subscribe 100,670 shares of the Company.
   

Shares under guardianship & 
 

 Shares Warrants in organizations under control

Sihvo Ilkka 1,155,800 24,080 0
Eräkangas Kirsi 791,400 11,080 350,400
Korvenmaa Esa 0 6,000 0
Perttunen Sakari 830,400 13,350 0
Pöllänen Antti 684,100 11,080 460,800
Pohjola Ossi 0 6,000 0
Vaajoensuu Hannu 528,000 29,080 627,800
Total 3,989,700 100,670 1,439,000

Financial Statements
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The Group’s distributable funds according to the Group Balance Sheet 
on December 31, 2004 amount to   EUR 3,589,879.11
 
The parent company’s distributable funds according 
to the Financial Statements on December 31, 2004 are: 
 
 Retained earnings 4,761,819.68
 Profi t for the period 5,196,014.32
  9,957,834.00
 
The Board of Directors proposes that a dividend of 0.12 euro per share be paid to shareholders, 
total of EUR 1,032,876.00 with the number of shares at the end of the fi nancial period and that the 
remainder EUR 8,924,958.00 is carried forward to the retained earnings account.

According to the Board of Director’s decision, the balancing date for the dividend is March 8, 2005. 
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that a dividend is paid after the 
balancing time ends on March 15, 2005.

In Espoo, January 18, 2005

The Board of Directors of BasWare Corporation

Hannu Vaajoensuu, Chairman of the Board
Kirsi Eräkangas
Esa Korvenmaa
Sakari Perttunen
Ossi Pohjola
Antti Pöllänen

Ilkka Sihvo, CEO

To the Shareholders of BasWare Corporation
 
The fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Act and other 
rules and regulations governing the preparation of fi nancial statements. Based on an audit, an 
opinion is expressed on these fi nancial statements and on corporate governance on this date.
 
In Espoo, January 19, 2005
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Authorized Public Accountants

Juha Väisänen
Authorized Public Accountant

Board’s Dividend Proposal

Financial Statements
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To the shareholders of 
BasWare Corporation

We have audited the accounting, the fi nancial 
statements and the corporate governance of 
BasWare Corporation for the period 1.1.–
31.12.2004. The fi nancial statements, which 
include the report of the Board of Directors, 
consolidated and parent company income 
statements, balance sheets and notes to the fi -
nancial statements, have been prepared by the 
Board of Directors and the Managing Director. 
Based on our audit we express an opinion on 
these fi nancial statements and on corporate 
governance. 

We have conducted the audit in accordance 
with Finnish Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that we perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
fi nancial statements are free of material mis-
statement. An audit includes examining on a 
test basis evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the fi nancial statements, assess-
ing the accounting principles used and signifi -
cant estimates made by the management as 
well as evaluating the overall fi nancial state-
ment presentation. The purpose of our audit 
of corporate governance is to examine that 
the members of the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director have legally complied with 
the rules of the Companies’ Act. 

Auditor’s Report

In our opinion the fi nancial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with the Account-
ing Act and other rules and regulations govern-
ing the preparation of fi nancial statements. The 
fi nancial statements give a true and fair view, 
as defi ned in the Accounting Act, of both the 
consolidated and parent company’s result of 
operations as well as of the fi nancial position. 
The fi nancial statements with the consolidated 
fi nancial statements can be adopted and the 
members of the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director of the parent company can 
be discharged from liability for the period 
audited by us. The proposal by the Board of 
Directors regarding the distributable assets 
is in compliance with the Companies’ Act.

In Espoo, January 19, 2005

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Authorised Public Accountants

Juha Väisänen
Authorised Public Accountant

Financial Statements
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For Shareholders

Share

BasWare shares are quoted on the Main List of 
the Helsinki Stock Exchange, in the Telecommu-
nications & Electronics business sector as of 
October 19, 2004. Earlier, BasWare shares were 
traded on the NM List of the stock exchange.

Trading code BAS1V

ISIN code FI0009008403

Lot size 100 shares

Book-counter value  EUR 0.30 

Listing price on Feb. 29, 2000 EUR 5.70

Price in taxation in 2004 EUR 5.46

Closing price on Dec. 31, 2004 EUR 7.78

Annual General Meeting

BasWare’s Annual General Meeting will be held 
at the Quartetto Business Park Auditorium, at 
Linnoitustie 4, 02600 Espoo, Finland on Thurs-
day March 3, 2005 starting at 09:00.

In order to take part in the Annual General 
Meeting, shareholders must be registered by 
February 21, 2005, in the shareholders’ register 
maintained by the Finnish Central Securities 
Depository Ltd. 

Shareholders who wish to participate in the 
meeting should notify BasWare of their inten-
tion to participate by 16:00 on Thursday, 
February 24, 2005 either
• by post to the address BasWare Corporation, 

P. O. Box 97, 02601 Espoo, Finland
• by telephone to +358 (0)9 8791 7316/

Hanne Grönlund
• by fax to +358 (0)9 8791 7297
• by e-mail to IR@basware.com

When registering by mail, fax or e-mail, notices 
of participation must be received by the above-
mentioned deadline. Any powers-of-attorney 
should be sent with the notice. 

The matters to be handled in the Annual 
General Meeting will be disclosed in the Notice 
of the meeting that will be published as a stock 
exchange release and on BasWare investor 
pages on the Internet at www.basware.com.

Dividend

The Board of Directors of BasWare proposes to 
the Annual General Meeting that a dividend of 
EUR 0.12 per share be paid for 2004. If the 
Board’s proposal is accepted, the dividend will 
be paid to those shareholders who are entered 
in the shareholders’ register maintained by the 
Finnish Central Securities Depository Ltd. on 
the dividend record date March 8, 2005. The 
actual payment of dividends will take place on 
March 15, 2005.

Financial Reporting in 2005

During 2005, BasWare will publish the interim 
reports as follows:
• January–March on April 12, 2005
• January–June on July 12, 2005
• January–September on October 11, 2005

The reports will be prepared according to the 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). Comparative IFRS data for the three 
fi rst quarters of 2004 were published in De-
cember 2004. Comparative IFRS data for the 
whole fi nancial year 2004 will be published 
in March 2005. 

Interim reports and stock exchange releases 
are available on the BasWare investor relations 
pages on the Internet at www.basware.com. The 
BasWare e-mail list for the stock exchange re-
leases can be subscribed to through the pages.

IR contacts

CEO Ilkka Sihvo
Tel. +358 (0)9 8791 7251

Communications Manager Nora Malin
Tel. +358 (0)9 8791 7284

Email IR@basware.com

BasWare Corporation
Tel. +358 (0)9 879 171
Fax +358 (0)9 8791 7297
Visiting address: Linnoitustie 2, Cello building
Postal address: P.O. Box 97, 02601 Espoo

Changes of address

If your address changes, please send a written 
notifi cation of this to the bank where your 
book-entry account is held.

For Shareholders
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